PHYSIOLOGIC MODULATION OF DENDRITIC

EPIDERMAL T CELLS BY STAPHYLO-

COCCAL ENTEROTOXIN A

By

JEREMY KIRK JOHNSON

Bachelor of Science

Friends University

Wichita, Kansas

1994

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE December 1996

PHYSIOLOGIC MODULATION OF DENDRITIC

EPIDERMAL T CELL BY STAPHYLO-

COCCAL ENTEROTOXIN A

Thesis Approved:

Thesis Advisor

Dean of the Graduate College

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to thank my advisor, Dr. Kim Burnham, for allowing me work in his lab on such an interesting subject and for allowing the freedom to think of new ideas and the security to allow us to make mistakes. It was this atmosphere that has helped me develop the attitude and skills that will serve me well in the future. My appreciation and thanks go out to Dr. Stephen Wikel and Dr. Jeff Hadwiger for serving on my committee and for their suggestions, technical advice and encouragement. I am very grateful.

My gratitude goes out to Murali Bandla for sharing his professional example, technical expertise, career advice and his friendship. A special thanks goes out to Stephanie Elias who has been a lab partner, a classmate, a mentor and most importantly, a wonderful friend. I would not have survived this experience without her. I would also like to thank my fellow graduate students whose friendship and acceptance have made my experience at Oklahoma State all the more worthwhile. The visual presentation of this work could not have been accomplished without the wonderful help of Lou Edith Hara, who took a significant portion of many, many days to give direction and assistance and always with a smile

I would like to express my deepest love and thanks to my family. My gratitude goes to my grandparents, Otis and Gertrude Penix, for their moral encouragement and financial support through the years, and for good or bad, always accepting me for what I was. I miss you Grandma. To my brother Gerald and his wife, Angie, for their neverending love, support and friendship I am very grateful. Most of all, to my parents, John and Judy Johnson, I am truly blessed to have had the support and guidance they have given me throughout my life, including my time at Oklahoma State. I thank them for their encouragement, financial support and unconditional love. Without these two special people, none of this would have been possible. I dedicate this work to them.

Lastly, I must thank my Heavenly Father who, in the last three years, has heaped innumerable blessings on a most undeserving individual and who has faithfully shown me what life in Christ is all about. If His love were not greater than my pride, I would truly be lost.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Cha	pter					Page
I. I	NTRODUCTION	•				.1
	Immunobiology of the Skin					.3
	Layers of the Skin					. 5
	Langerhans Cells					.7
	Keratinocytes					.9
	Epidermotropic T Cells					.11
	Ontogeny of DETC					.13
	Functional and Structural Attributes of DETC					.14
	Surface Markers and T Cell Receptor					.14
	Growth and Proliferation					.17
	Cytotoxicity					.18
	Tolerance					.18
	Antigen Recognition					.19
	Epidermal Cytokines					.20
	Superantigens		•	•	8	.24
П. 1	MATERIALS AND METHODS	•	•			.29
	Animals					.29
	Toxins					.29
	Media and Solutions					.29
	Antibodies and Conjugates					.30
	Epidermal Cell Suspensions					.31
	Immunohistochemical Staining of Epidermal Skin Sections					.32
	Double Immunofluorescent Staining of Epidermal Cells .					.33
	Cytokine Production by Epidermal Cells After SEA Applic	atio	n.			.33
	Interferon-y ELISA					.34
	Interleukin-2 ELISA					.35
	Interleukin-10 ELISA				-	.35
	Summary	•	•		•	.36
ш	RESULTS					.37

Chapter

n		-	
$\boldsymbol{\nu}$	2	α	P
	а	3 5	c

	1	Effects	of	SE	Αo	n D	ETC	De	eplet	tion											.37
	ļ	Bindin	g o	f SE	EA t	o T	hy-1	Po	sitiv	e E	pide	erma	al Co	ells	•						.41
		IFN _Y S	Seci	etic	on b	y W	hole	e Ep	ider	rmal	Cel	ll Su	ispe	nsic	ns						.45
		IL-2 S	ecr	etio	n by	W	nole	Epi	ider	mal	Cell	Su	sper	nsio	ns		•	•			.47
		IL-10	Sec	reti	on t	y W	/hol	e Ej	pide	rma	1 Ce	ell S	usp	ensi	ons	•					.49
		Summa	агу	•	·	•	•	·	•	•	•	·	•	٠	·	٠	•	•	•	•	.49
IV.	DI	SCUSS	SIO	N	e	٠	•	÷	•	٠	÷		•	•		•	•	•		•	.53
RE	FER	ENCE	S								•			•		÷					.63

LIST OF TABLES

Гable									Page
1. DETC binding of SEA as shown	ı by	v do	uble	B					
immunoflourescent staining						•			.44

LIST OF FIGURES

Figu	ire									Page
1.	Effects of SEA on the depletion of Langerhans cells and DETC from murine epidermis						•	•	.•	.39
2.	Effects of Thy-1.2 positive DETC depletion from murine epidermis following SEA applic- action.	٠	1. .		•	5. €0		•		.40
3.	Effects of DETC depletion from murine epidermis after in vivo application of SEA .	•	•				•	×	•	.42
4.	SEA-induced IFN γ production by murine epidermal cells over 48 hours.	•	٠		•			٠	•	.46
5.	SEA-induced IL-2 production by murine epidermal cells over 48 hours.	٠	•	÷		•	٠	٠		.48
6.	Comparison of IFNy, IL-2 and IL-10 productio by murine epidermal cells after SEA application	n ı.	٠			•				.50
7.	Comparison of IFN γ , IL-2 and IL-10 production by murine epidermal cells in culture	n			Ŭ.					.51

NOMENCLATURE

BSA	bovine serum albumin
CD	cluster designation
CH	contact hypersensitivity
DETC	dendritic epidermal T cell
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
ELISA	enzyme linked immunoadsorbent assay
FITC	fluorescein isothiocyanate
GM-CSF	granulocyte/macrophage colongy stimulating factor
ICAM-1	intercellular adhesion molecule-1
IFNγ	interferon-gamma
LC	Langerhans cell
LFA-1	lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
MHC	major histocompatability complex
Mls	minor lymphocyte stimulating antigen
MoAb	monoclonal antibody
PBS	phosphate-buffered saline
PE	phycoerythrin
SALT	skin-associated lymphoid tissue
SEA	Staphylococcal enterotoxin A
SEB	Staphylococcal enterotoxin B
TCR	T cell receptor
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
TSST	toxic shock syndrome toxin

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

It has long been recognized that there exists a close relationship between the skin and the immune system. The skin, acting as the barrier between the body's external and internal environment, is bombarded daily with numerous insults, both physical and biological. Although it has long been recognized as a physiochemical barrier and an organ of temperature control, only in the past 20 years have the immunocompetent attributes of the skin come to be appreciated. First, the true role of epidermal Langerhans cells (LC) as antigen presenting cells began to be realized by 1978 (98), after originally having been thought to be a part of the nervous system. Another finding that gave credence to the idea of the skin having immunologic function was the finding of certain T cell malignancies with an inclination toward infiltrating the skin (100). Streilein was the first to give the idea of this relationship between the skin and immune system a name -- Skin-Associated Lymphoid Tissue or SALT (104) --- and he included within this system keratinocytes, the growing layer of the epidermis; the LC, the major antigen-presenting cell of the epidermis; skin-seeking T lymphocytes; endothelial cells, that direct homing T cells; and draining lymph nodes (104, 101).

However, in 1983, a discovery was made that would force researchers to slightly alter their concept of the SALT system. Groups in both Dallas and Vienna, Austria reported a cell population in mouse epidermis that bore a dendritic morphology and Thy-1 cell surface glycoprotein, but no IA molecules (10, 111). These cells did not resemble any other cell present in the epidermis and it was impossible at the time to place them in any type of classification scheme, so these cells were simply referred to as Thy-1+ dendritic epidermal cells (10, 111).

Within a few years, however, much was learned about these cells, the most significant being that they possessed a T cell receptor (TCR), upon where they were renamed dendritic epidermal T cells (DETC). This TCR was found to be of the CD3-associated (97) γ/δ type, rather than the α/β heterodimer, as is found on most circulating peripheral T cells (53), and it lacked both the mature T cell surface markers CD4 and CD8 (8). Despite their lack of these markers, DETC were found to proliferate in the presence of the T cell mitogen Concanavalin A and also Interleukin-2 (IL-2) (72, 106), as well as anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody (MoAb), phorbol ester and calcium ionophore (72, 41, 110). Also unlike most T cells, DETC exist as non-circulating cells in the suprabasal layer of the epidermis, where they constitute only 0.8-2% of cells there (8, 108). Radiation chimera studies have shown that, along with LC, DETC are of bone marrow origin (9, 17). Evidence has also shown that they are dependent on the thymus for complete development (71, 58, 42) which lends additional support to the DETC being of the T cell lineage.

Much has been learned about DETC since their discovery in 1983 (8, 108, 107), but many questions still persist and at the present time, their physiologic role has not been elucidated. Also interesting is the fact that, to date, no resident γ/δ + cells with a dendritic morphology have been found in the epidermis of any mammalian species, including humans. One of the keys to understanding the true role of these cells lies in the determination of the antigen DETC recognize, as their TCR is characterized by very limited diversity (40, 5), even to the point of being virtually monomorphic (107). This suggests that the number of ligands that the DETC can recognize is extremely limited and some investigators have suggested that there is only a single physiologic ligand for the DETC (4). The γ/δ TCR is thought to be more primitive than its α/β counterpart, as evidenced by the fact that γ and δ chains are rearranged and expressed earlier than the α/β heterodimer (46), and because of this ontogenic difference, were termed TCR1 and TCR2, respectively. Since most $\gamma/\delta + T$ cells reside in various epithelial compartments, it has been proposed that $\gamma/\delta T$ cells form a first line of defense against invading pathogens and may play a crucial role in immune surveillance (46).

To maintain and coordinate this complex system of cutaneous immune responders is an interwoven network of cytokine production. To illicit an immune response in the skin and to eliminate the offending antigen, cells of the SALT system must work in conjunction with one another and coordinate their actions. Keratinocytes bear the largest burden of supplying soluble protein signals as nonspecific activators for other cells in a cutaneous immune response. This is certainly their primary immune function, but it could be argued that their role in capturing antigen is rather significant, although this point remains a topic of debate. Keratinocyte-derived Interleukin-1 (IL-1), and to a lesser extent tumor necrosis factor, have a significant effect in mediating inflammatory and contact hypersensitivity reactions in the skin. Both cytokines have been implicated in upregulation of endothelial cell adhesion molecules (88) and may be necessary primary signals in LC migration from the epidermis. IL-1 has proved important as an autocrine stimulatory factor for neighboring keratinocytes and a chemoattractant of T cells (100). Little is known about what signaling effects epidermal keratinocytes have on DETC. It is known that IL-7 from keratinocytes serves as a growth factor for DETC (62) and DETC will migrate toward PAM 212 keratinocyte culture supernatants, but not toward keratinocyte cytokines administered individually (24).

Immunobiology of the Skin

The role of the skin as a protective organ has long been known, but in recent years, much has been learned about the skin's relationship with the immune system. Although the skin is effective acting as a physiochemical barrier to environmental insults and invading organisms, it cannot keep all pathogens from getting through its layers. Therefore, the skin, along with its draining lymph nodes, must act as an active immune organ in fighting against external infections and cutaneous neoplasms (88), althewhile maintaining its physiologic functions.

The concept of cutaneous immunobiology was first reported by Alexandre Besredka in 1925 (11) when she pointed out the existence of organ-specific immunity, where she wrote two books on the subject (15). In 1970, a group published an article (31) in which they stated that the skin was a first-level lymphoid organ, comparable to the primary lymphoid status of the thymus (15). Much of what is known about cell-mediated immunity came about through delayed type hypersensitivity skin reactions in experimental assays (100). The idea of organ or tissue-specific immunity was first documented for the respiratory tract as BALT (or bronchial-associated lymphoid tissue) (12) and the gastrointestinal tract as GALT (gut-associated lymphoid tissue) (39), but Streilein's definition of skin-associated lymphoid tissue or SALT (104), was the first documentation suggesting resident keratinocytes, Langerhans cells, epidermotropic T cells, dermal endothelial cells and draining lymph nodes working together to provide immune protection to the skin.

The functional components of the SALT system work together to perform four basic functions, which are: (1) induction of primary immune responses to new cutaneous antigens, (2) expression of immunity in the skin to previously encountered antigens, (3) avoidance of deleterious responses to nonpathologic cutaneous antigens and (4) performing immune functions without compromising the skin's physiologic integrity (100). To do this, the SALT system employs a number of cells within both the epidermis and the dermis in the elicitation of contact hypersensitivity reactions. The most common type of antigens that induce this type of contact hypersensitivity reaction are haptens such as pentadecacatechol from poison ivy and poison oak, nickel, chromate, and chemicals used to make rubber (83). As haptens, these substances are too small to illicit an immune response on their own, but once they penetrate the epidermis, they probably bind to body proteins, where they become active targets for cells of the immune system. First, keratinocytes comprise the growing portion of the epidermis and constitute approximately 90% of the cells found there. The outer layers of the skin are comprised of dead, densely packed keratinocytes, but the basilar layers are made up of keratinocytes which produce a number of immunologically-relevent cytokines and which are believed to create an appropriate environment for antigen uptake and recognition. Epidermal Langerhans cells (LC) are the major antigen-presenting cell of the epidermis (while dermal macrophages and dendritic cells play this role in the dermal layer) and are the only cells within normal, unperturbed epidermis to constitutively express MHC class II molecules. The job of LC is to induce primary T cell responses by binding to foreign antigens and migrating to draining lymph nodes, where they present these antigens to T helper cells. The T lymphocytes to which LC present their bound antigen may be found in regional somatic lymph nodes or in the skin itself. These T lymphocytes find their way to the skin and ultimately, to the site of the antigenic stimulation, by "sticking" to dermal and blood vessel endothelial cells which can become activated to upregulate cell surface adhesion molecules that the skin-directed T cells can recognize and bind. In the midst of all of these cellular interactions is a network of cytokine release that coordinates immunological events within the skin that help drive the immune response from initiation to resolution.

Layers of the Skin

The cutaneous membrane constitutes one of the four major types of organs of the integumentary system, but is most-commonly referred to as the skin (43). As previously stated, the skin acts as a physiochemical barrier that provides protection against harmful

substances such as microorganisms, ultraviolet rays from the sun, toxins and harmful chemicals. It also prevents water loss from deeper tissues, allows for sensory reception through heavy innervation, excretes wastes, regulates body temperature (43) and, as just described, mediates cutaneous immune responses.

The skin itself is divided into two major tissue layers, the epidermis and dermis, which are separated by the dermal-epidermal junction. These tissues are held in place by a layer of loose connective and fatty tissue termed the subcutaneous layer. The epidermis comprises the outermost, avascular layer of the skin which is made up of stratified squamous epithelium and is comprised of a number of layers -- layers that vary from region to region in the body. The deepest layer of the epidermis has access to nutrients provided by blood vessels from the underlying dermis, and so, possesses cells that are capable of growth and division. This layer is termed stratum germinativum or stratum basale and the cells here take on a columnar-cuboidal morphology. As keratinocytes -- the growing cell population of the epidermis -- from this layer grow, they are pushed vertically, where they flatten and acquire desmosomal connective junctions that help hold them to one another to form a consistent epidermal covering. This thick layer is termed the stratum spinosum. Two more distal layers may or may not be present, depending on the thickness of the skin in a particular region. They are, a granular layer called the stratum granulosum and the stratum lucidum, which is found in palmar--plantar regions. As keratinocytes are pressed even further away from the basal and spinous layers, their internal organelles and nuclei disappear and they undergo a hardening process called keratinization, where a tough, fibrous protein called keratin develops within the cell. This outermost layer of densely-packed keratinized cells is called the stratum corneum and this is the final fate of keratinocytes before they are sloughed off (95, 43). Binding the epidermis to the underlying tissues is the dermis. The membrane separating these two skin regions is made up of both epidermal and dermal components in a series of folds, where both layers extend into one another through small finger-like projections. This basement membrane is referred to as the dermal-epidermal junction and this structure binds the epidermis to the dermis and acts to prevent the movement of materials and cells across the junction (95). The dermis itself is made up of collagen, elastic tissue and gel-like ground substance and can be divided into two layers, the upper papillary layer and the lower reticular layer. Within these layers can be found sensory and motor nerves, hair follicles, sweat and sebaceaous glands, smooth muscle, and blood and lymphatic vessels. The dermis is essential for the viability of the epidermis, as it cannot be maintained in culture for long periods of time without dermal tissues present (95). The blood vessels of the dermis provide thermal regulation to the skin and are also crucial for cell trafficking in cutaneous immune responses. Connective tissues of the dermis come from fibroblasts and it is the networking of these tissues that give the skin its elasticity and toughness (95, 43). Underneath the dermis lies the subcutaneous layer. This layer, composed mainly of loose connective and adipose tissues, supplies blood to the skin through major blood vessels and also functions as a heat insulator (43).

Langerhans Cells

It was in 1868 that a medical student by the name of Paul Langerhans inoculated human skin with gold and discovered a population of dendritic epidermal cells, which he originally ascribed as a cell of the nervous system (55). It took more than a century for researchers to begin to understand the function of the cell that bears Langerhans' name. Proof came about that Langerhans cells were not a part of the nervous system in the late 1960s (116) and eventually it was learned that these cells are of bone marrow origin (8) and are believed to be of the monocyte/macrophage lineage (8). In the mid-1970s, it was realized that these cells possessed the ability to act as antigen presenting cells (98) and much research has been done to corroborate this idea, as Langerhans cells (LC) have been shown to possess a great ability to stimulate T cell responses within the skin and with much greater efficiency than macrophages, splenic adherent cells and peripheral blood monocytes(116, 49). This would be consistent with the fact the LC are the only cell in normal epidermis to express surface IA antigens, the human corollary of which is HLA-DR (85). The ability of LC to induce these T cell responses comes from their ability to migrate out of the epidermis to draining lymph nodes upon encountering antigen as shown by depletion of these cells from the skin after hapten painting and that hapten-bearing MHC class II+ cells appear in draining lymph nodes 24 to 48 hours after skin painting (8). Also, it is believed that LC only reach their full potential as antigen presenting cells after having left the epidermis (15). Studies have implicated LC as being involved in contact hypersensitivity reactions within the skin, showing that application of a chemical allergen on the skin results in antigen-bearing dendritic cells in draining lymph nodes (26). Although much of the antigen presented by LC is believed to take place in draining somatic lymph nodes, if the appropriate T lymphocytes are already in or near the skin, antigen presentation may take place within the skin itself (96). LC are also critical in graft rejection, as they represent the "passenger" leukocytes critical in allosensitization (103). Important to note, though, is the fact that application of haptens in LC-deficient skin leads to suppresser T cell-mediated suppression (102), suggesting that it is the absence of LC, not the LC themselves, that induce tolerance.

OKLAHOMA STATE UNIVERS

Langerhans cells constitute approximately 2-8% of the cells of the epidermis and reside in its suprabasal region (88). LC can also be found in other epithelial tissue such as the oral cavity, vagina, cervix and esophagus, as well as the dermis, and draining lymphatic vessels and nodes (116). These cells are regularly distributed within the skin, although the

density varies from region to region, and their dendrites intercalate between keratinocytes to form a sort of immunological net, so that each LC covers an area greater than adjacent epidermal cells (116). As previously stated, LC constitutively express MHC class II markers, but they also have receptors for the Fc portion of IgG, the complement component C3b (100) and are also ATPase positive (115). Unique to these cells is an organelle originally described by Birbeck (14). The exact function of this organelle remains undiscovered at the present time, but it is the only reliable morphologic marker that the LC can be identified by through electron microscopy (100).

Keratinocytes

Keratinocytes comprise the growing cell population of the epidermis and consist of approximately 90% of the cells found there. These cells begin life in the basal layer of the epidermis and as they proliferate, become pushed distally from that region, differentiating into keratinized non-proliferative cells that form the outer layer of skin in direct contact with the outside environment. Once they reach this layer, they are sloughed off and replaced by cells underneath, as this process repeats itself again and again. Over the past few years, though, it has been realized that keratinocytes are not the immunologicallysilent cells scientists once thought they were, but possess properties that give them a vital role in maintaining the immunologic integrity of the skin.

First and foremost, keratinocytes are able to produce a number of cytokines with a wide range of immunologic influences. Under the appropriate circumstances, keratinocytes can produce IL-1 α and β , IL-3, IL-6, IL-7, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12, tumor necrosis factors alpha and beta (TNF α and β), granulocyte/macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF), granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF), monocyte colony stimulating factor (M-CSF), interferon alpha and beta (IFN α and β), platelet-derived growth factor, fibroblast growth factor and transforming growth factors alpha and beta (TGF α and β) (65, 15, 100, 62). Few of these factors are expressed constitutively in vivo, but many can be induced by a wide variety immunological insults as non-specific, pro-inflammatory substances, the most significant being IL-1. This cytokine, along with TNF α , has been shown to increase MHC class II and intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1 expression on LC (7) and may well be one of the primary signals in inducing their migration from the epidermis (80). IL-1 can cross the semi-permeable membrane of the dermal-epidermal junction, as is demonstrated by its ability to be a strong chemoattractant to T cells (89) as well as to upregulate surface adhesion molecules on the endothelial cells of post capillary venules of the papillary and reticular dermis (57, 15). Keratinocytes also secrete cytokines that can downregulate inflammatory responses. TGF β and prostaglandin E2 can inhibit inflammation by blocking the effects of both IL-1 and IL-2 and IL-10 downregulates MHC class II expression and immune responses mediated by Th1 cells (23, 83).

Keratinocytes are also able to influence immune responses within the skin by upregulating certain surface markers, namely MHC class II and ICAM-1. In non-inflamed skin, keratinocytes only express MHC I antigens (EE), but in perturbed skin, IFN γ secreted by T lymphocytes can upregulate class II MHC expression (112). There is some speculation, however, as to the significance of class II MHC expression on these cells. No studies have shown IA+ keratinocytes as possessing the ability to act as accessory cells in antigen presentation (23). This may be due to the lack of the ability to process antigen as shown in studies where IA+ keratinocytes could present viral peptides which required no processing, but not intact viruses in which processing was necessary (23). Interestingly enough, there is evidence suggesting that T cell recognition of antigen-derivatized keratinocytes does occur, but that this recognition leads to clonal anergy, suggesting a role for IA+ keratinocytes in the downregulation of immune responses (36). IFN γ and TNF α

induce the expression of ICAM-1 on keratinocytes, which may play a role in recruiting or trapping immune cells to the site of antigenic challenge, as this molecule binds to lymphocyte function-associated antigen (LFA-1) expressed on activated T cells (88).

A phagocytic ability is demonstrated by keratinocytes, even much more so than LC. It is theorized that antigen phagocytized by keratinocytes may be modified and reintroduced to the epidermal microenvironment, where they are picked up by the poorlyphagocytizing LC in an essential first step in LC antigen presentation. However, internalization of antigen by keratinocytes may prevent access of those antigens to other immune cells and may actually prevent proper antigen presentation (100).

Epidermotropic T Lymphocytes

It has been well-known that T lymphocytes play a major role in inflammatory, allergic and autoimmune responses within the skin, but the discovery of certain T cell malignancies with a propensity for infiltrating the skin, led researchers to believe that there existed a population of actual skin-seeking lymphocytes (101). Research has demonstrated that lymphoid cells recovered from mesenteric and peripheral lymph nodes display different homing patterns, with mesenteric lymph node cells infiltrating the gut and peripheral lymph node cells infiltrating the skin (38, 84). In 1990, Picker *et al* found a subset of peripheral T cells with cutaneous lymphocyte-associated antigen (CLA) by using the monoclonal antibody HECA-452, which binds to a 200 kD surface glycoprotein found on 16% of peripheral blood T cells, but on 85% of T cells derived from various dermatological diseases (81). CLA is expressed on approximately 43% of T lymphocytes in normal skin (15). Along with the LFA-1-ICAM-1 interactions of T cells with endothelial cells and keratinocytes, this surface marker may well interact with E-selectin (formerly known as endothelial cell leukocyte adhesion molecule-1), which may act as an adhesion molecule for cutaneous homing of T cells.

There exists a vast difference in dispersion patterns of T cells in the skin, depending on the region. Of the total number of T lymphocytes in normal skin, 90% are located in dermal perivascular regions. These numbers in the epidermis are 2% and most of these cells are of the CD8+ phenotype (88). In the dermal regions, most of the cells are in the activated state, as demonstrated by expression of HLA-DR antigens and IL-2 receptors. Also, there are nearly equal numbers of CD4+ inducer and CD8+ cytotoxic/suppressor cells, which are of the α/β variety (16), clustered around post capillary venules in the dermis, but only CD8+ T lymphocytes are commonly found in "free" dermis, away from these structures, occasionally venturing as far as the epidermis itself (100).

During initiation of an immune response in the skin, and subsequent migration of antigen-derivatized LC, if the relevant memory T cell is already located in the post capillary region of the dermis, antigen presentation will most likely occur there. These induced cells will then secrete IFN γ , which causes upregulation of class II MHC and ICAM-1 molecules on keratinocytes and activates them to release pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF α , GM-CSF, IL-3, IL-6 and most importantly, IL-1. This activation of keratinocytes can then induce the migration of non-antigen specific T cells from peripheral lymph nodes, which home back to the site of the original challenge. If, however, the antigen in question has not been previously encountered, LC will migrate to the regional lymph nodes themselves, and there, present the antigen to naive T cells. Then, binding their lymphocyte homing receptors to the expressed adhesion molecules on endothelial cells, these newly activated T cells will migrate to the skin to mediate an immune response. However, Chin, Sackstein and colleagues have proposed, through studies involving lymphocyte traf-ficking in psoriatic lesions, that upregulation of endothelial adhesion molecules may capture T lymphocytes with the appropriate receptors that are normally circulating through the blood, implying that they may not even be T cells of the skin-seeking variety (21, 22). It has been hypothesized that there is an "imprinting " of T cells based on the unique tissue environment where the antigen is encountered, leading to tissue tropism (31).

Ontogeny of DETC

When DETC were first discovered, scientists were unable to place them in any particular classification scheme. The only indication of the potential lineage of these cells came from the presence of the murine T cell differentiation marker Thy-1 on their surface, hence the somewhat generic name, Thy-1+ dendritic epidermal cell. The first key to unraveling the mystery of this particular cell population lie in discovering their origin. Bone marrow chimera studies in AKR mice unequivocally showed that Thy-1+ cells of bone marrow origin could infiltrate the epidermis of recipients, resulting in repopulation of allogeneic DETC, although reconstitution of significant numbers took much longer than similar studies employing LC (9, 17). Once this was established, the next issue to be dealt with involved asking if these cells were derived from the thymus as precursor cells which migrate into the epidermis during the neonatal period or whether they developed independently of the thymus. Fetal thymocytes do bear the characteristic Vy3-V81 TCR of DETC (108) and the disappearance of Vy3-V δ 1 cells in the fetal thymus precedes the initial appearance of DETC in the epidermis (40, 42). A thymic dependence on DETC maturation was observed by the fact that grafting of thymic lobes or injection of thymic precursor cells resulted in the gradual appearance of CD3+, TCR-V γ 3-V δ 1 DETC in the epidermis of athymic or Thy-1 disparate mice, expanding in clusters and slowly becoming more dendritic. This, along with the fact that CD3- or Vy3/Vo1- thymocytes failed to

repopulate the epidermis as CD3+ or V γ 3/V δ 1+ DETC, supported the idea that DETC arrange and express their TCR before entering the epidermis (108, 8, 58, 28). Interestingly, very few Thy-1+ cells are present in the epidermis of newborn mice and these cells are CD45+, but CD3-. Only after a month are there cell densities in the skin comparable to those of adults (107, 108). Elbe *et al*, demonstrated this extra-thymic development from precursor to mature CD45+/Thy-1+/CD3+ cells by grafting day 16 fetal skin onto athymic or Thy-1-disparate adult mice, whereupon fetal skin originally devoid of CD3/TCR-bearing cells showed Thy-1+/CD3+/TCR V γ 3+ cells in increasing numbers over time of donor grafted, but not host, skin (78). This showed that although the precursor cells of DETC originate in the thymus, their maturation is thymus-independent, as it takes place within the skin.

Functional and Structural Attributes of DETC

Surface Markers and T Cell Receptor

When first discovered in 1983, DETC were named Thy-1+ dendritic epidermal cells because of the presence of the murine T cell differentiation marker, Thy-1, expressed by this cell population. This marker is found on all murine T lymphocytes, but usually coinciding with either of the two distinguishing mature T cell alloantigens, CD4 or CD8, of which DETC display neither (107). DETC constitutively express, along with Thy-1, CD45, asialo-GM1, a γ/δ T cell receptor complexed with CD3, but no IA molecules or surface IgG (107, 71).

The vast majority of T cells in the thymus and periphery display a polymorphic heterodimeric T cell receptor consisting of an α chain and a β chain. This receptor is linked to a CD3 complex, which is composed of 3-5 transmembrane subunits which transmit activation signals from the TCR to the cell (108). A T cell of the α/β variety can be further classified by the presence of either surface CD4 or CD8 molecules, each with its own unique MHC requirements for activation: CD4+ cells require antigen in context with MHC class II molecules and CD8+ cells need antigen and MHC class I (83). However, there exists a minor subset of T lymphocytes that are CD4- and CD8- which bear a CD3-associated heterodimeric glycoprotein composed of a γ and a δ chain (46). The antigen-MHC binding portion of the TCR, of both T cell classes, is composed of four sets of genes: V (variable), D (diversity), J (joining) and C (constant) segments. Diversity among T cells comes about through somatic rearrangement of these different germlineencoded gene segments, giving the entire T cell repertoire the ability to recognize a vast array of foreign antigens (107, 108). The overall ability of γ/δ T cells to generate combinatorial diversity is greater than that of α/β T cells and this is demonstrated by TCR analysis of circulating peripheral γ/δ T cells, but this is not the case with resident γ/δ T cell populations in various epithelial compartments (29). And, indeed, circulating γ/δ T cells show marked variability in their TCR, but those found preferentially in these various epithelium seem to be biased toward certain conserved TCR types that are site-specific. In murine lung, y/8 T cells demonstrate a TCR bearing predominately Vy2 and V81 or V86 components (6). In gut epithelium, there is no δ chain preference, but a strong γ chain preference toward Vy7 (54) and in the tongue and mouse female reproductive tract, receptor chain preference is toward Vy6 and V δ 1 (44). T cells of the murine dermis show Vy5 preferences (54). Although the precise ligands of these γ/δ T cells have not been elucidated, researchers believe that each cell type has a conserved TCR, specific for that site, to recognize antigens that are most likely confronted in that particular anatomic site. It has been speculated that the importance of γ/δ T cells, in general, be as a first line of

OKLAHOMA STATE UNIVERSITY

15

defense in response to infectious agents and altered or transformed self cells, initiation of autoimmunity and downregulation of α/β T cell responses (107). This speculation is primarily based on the fact that increased numbers of γ/δ T cells have been found to infiltrate certain disease sites involving granulomatous skin lesions (66), cutaneous melanomas, discoid lupus erythematosus and infection sites involving *Toxoplasma gondii*, *Listeria monocytogenes* (107, 108) and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (73).

Consistent with other γ/δ populations, DETC also display extremely limited $\gamma\delta$ pairing. Bergstresser et al have produced a number of DETC cell lines, all of which bear identical TCR, composed of Vy3/Jy1/Cy1 and Vo1/Do2/Jo2/Co gene segments (108, 5, 4), while others have shown similar results with cultured DETC lines being $V\gamma 3/V\delta 1+ (42, 5, 5)$ 108). However, there has been some disparity, with some groups finding DETC with considerable TCR heterogeneity. Possible explanations stem from different strains of mice, variations in protocols, or differences in culture techniques. Monclonal antibody studies were carried out by independent groups in Berkeley and Dallas in order to determine the TCR variability of DETC in epidermal sheets and in culture. Researchers in Berkeley developed a MoAb (named F536) which was specific for all γ/δ TCR-bearing V γ 3 segments, irrespective of the δ chain. Using disaggregated EC and flow cytometric analysis, this group demonstrated that over 90% of CD3+ epidermal cells were positive for the F536 MoAb (40). The MoAb developed by the Dallas group (17D1) was also specific for $V\gamma3+$ cells, but only when those cells were associated with a V $\delta 1/D\delta 2/J\delta 2$ -containing δ chain. Using whole epidermal sheets, this group determined that approximately 98% of all CD3+ epidermal cells expressed TCR that were recognized by the 17D1 MoAb (58). Interestingly, the Vy3/Vo1 TCR characteristic of DETC is found in no other epithelial compartment, peripheral blood or secondary lymphoid tissue. They have only been found in the OKLAHOMA STATE UNIVERSITY

fetal thymus and are the earliest fetal thymocytes to express a CD3/TCR complex. These $V\gamma3/V\delta1$ thymocytes are predominant until day 17 of gestation, at which time their numbers decline while the numbers of α/β + cells increase (107, 108, 8).

Growth and Proliferation

Along with the presence of a T cell receptor, one attribute of the DETC that led researchers toward classifying this cell as being of a T cell lineage was its proliferative response to T cell mitogens. It has been shown that DETC proliferate significantly in the presence of Concanavalin A and IL-2 and IL-2 alone after this initial activation (72, 106), although evidence shows that activation signaling for DETC may be different than for other types of T lymphocytes. For example, lymph node or spleen-derived T cells show strong mitotic responses to phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) plus ionomycin, but DETC do not and PMA plus ionomycin and IL-2 showed only marginal proliferative effects on DETC. Also, IL-2 seems to be the primary T cell-derived growth factor for DETC while other T cell classes respond to either IL-2 or IL-4 (110). The ease of establishing and maintaining DETC lines as opposed to the difficulty in culturing γ/δ cells from other sites also contribute to the idea that DETC may have unusual activation requirements (107). DETC have also been known to proliferate in response to anti-CD3 MoAb (110) and application of certain preservatives or antioxidants in topical medications (82). It was also found that keratinocyte-derived IL-7 could serve to maintain growth of DETC in culture and cause proliferation in Con A stimulated cells (62). This cytokine is believed to be a major relevant growth factor since DETC are the only cells in the epidermis to secrete IL-2, and only after cell activation. So, it seems unlikely that IL-2 is the lone DETC growth factor.

Cytotoxicity

A well-known feature of epithelial γ/δ T cells is their ability to demonstrate non-MHC restricted cytotoxicity toward certain cellular targets and the γ/δ + DETC possesses this ability, as well. Nixon-Fulton et al have shown DETC-directed non-MHC-restricted cytotoxicity toward the YAC-1 lymphoma, a natural killer cell-sensitive target. This ability was seen only in Con A and IL-2 stimulated cells and was not seen in cells that were freshly isolated (70). This stimulation and expansion necessity for cytotoxic activity is reminiscent of lymphokine activated killer (LAK) activity. Researchers in the same laboratory also found that 3 long-term DETC lines, but not their supernatants, were able to lyse the transformed keratinocyte line PAM212 and 2 transformed endothelial cell lines in addition to a number of mouse melanoma and fibrosarcoma tumors (48). Others have found that DETC can also lyse an ultraviolet light (UVL)-induced fibrosarcoma (74). DETC cytotoxic activity only after stimulation, coupled with evidence that intestinal γ/δ T cells show cytotoxicity in normal, but not germ-free, animals (56) have led researchers to believe that DETC in unperturbed epidermis must be induced to become mature lymphocyte killer cells. Also in support of this is the fact that DETC have mRNA for perforin, a protein capable of forming transmembrane pores in the cell membranes of target cells (52). Overall, the demonstration of these cytotoxic abilities toward transformed cells of the epithelia support the notion that DETC play a role in immunosurveillance of the skin. That is, DETC can recognize self cells that have been altered by a variety of means (transformed, physically damaged, infected) and eliminate them before they threaten the skin's physiologic and functional integrity.

Artel

Tolerance

Despite their role in cytotoxic immune reactions which are not MHC-restricted, DETC also seem to play a role in normal immune responses. Contrary to the essential role Langerhans cells play in induction of contact hypersensitivity (CH) and delayed type hypersensitivity, DETC downregulate these α/β T cell-mediated responses since the ability to mount a CH response has been shown, by one investigator, to be inversely proportional to the ratio of LC to DETC in the skin (13). Hapten-conjugated DETC injected intravenously or into the footpad resulted in an inability to mount an antigen-specific contact hypersensitivity response, while injecting hapten-derivatized normal lymphocytes or unconjugated DETC, by these same routes, caused no impairment in mounting such a response (107, 108). The mechanism for this tolerance may involve cytotoxic activity toward normal lymphocytes (108). Furthermore, cutaneous hapten painting after UVB radiation, a standard protocol for inducing immunologic tolerance, results in hapten-derivatized Thy-1+ cells with downregulatory abilities in draining lymph nodes (75). These data seem to support the idea that, in addition to being effector cells in the epidermis, DETC may also be involved in the downregulation of cutaneous immune responses.

OKLAHOMA STATE INWERSHY

Antigen Recognition

To elucidate the true role of the DETC, it is first necessary to recognize the physiologic ligand or ligands of this cell population. As stated previously, the TCR of DETC are extremely restricted, with nearly all established clones being monomorphic. This TCR homogeneity would suggest that the number of ligands that DETC can recognize is also very restricted. To reiterate their cytotoxic ability, DETC show non-MHC-restricted lysis toward a certain transformed keratinocyte and endothelial cell lines, as well as a number of lymphoma, melanoma and fibrosarcoma tumors (70, 48, 74). It is believed that the DETC expression of this invariant TCR, along with the fact that these cells are not motile, indicate that DETC may not encounter a wide array of antigens, except on rare occasions. However, they are in intimate contact with surrounding keratinocytes and may very well recognize a common antigenic marker induced on damaged or transformed cells in their microenvironment (8, 107, 108). Asarnow *et al* have suggested that this ligand might be mammalian heat shock proteins or stress proteins, a highly conserved family of proteins induced in many cell types by a variety of cellular insults, including heat, starvation, malignant transformation and infection (4). Reports have also cited that certain γ/δ T cells, distinct from DETC, are able to respond to various species of Mycobacteria, whose antigens bear striking similarity to heat shock proteins (66, 73). The current popular theory has DETC playing their major role in cutaneous immune surveillance, where they recognize heat shock proteins or other stress-induced markers on damaged epidermal cells, responding to these antigens and eliminating the stressed cells before they compromise the physiologic integrity of the skin. This recognition of stress ligands seems not to be restricted by normal polymorphic class I or II MHC molecules, but instead by more non-polymorphic β_2 -microglobulin-associated MHC-like molecules such as tissue-restricted CD1, Qa, or Tla molecules (117).

Epidermal Cytokines

Auto

Cytokines are low molecular weight protein substances secreted by their producer cells in response to certain stimuli. They have much the same function as classical hormones, but are classified differently, as hormones are secreted by particular endocrine organs and cytokines are produced by a number of different cell types in various tissue regions. Like hormones, though, cytokines act on their target cells after initial release from their producer cell, where they bind by specialized surface receptors specific for that particular cytokine. The target cell is then induced to perform a particular function, based on the cytokine acting on it. Cytokines play a great role in coordinating numerous types of immune responses, wound healing, cell regeneration and differentiation and they can

20

also act as paracrine and autocrine growth factors. Rarely are these molecules produced at a constant rate, but most are induced by a stimulus and they are usually present for only a short period of time.

The discovery of the ability of epidermal cells to secrete various cytokines reinforced the notion that the skin was fully capable of carrying out immune functions. As previously described, Langerhans cells, keratinocytes, as even melanocytes, are capable of secreting cytokines. It has also been shown that DETC possess this ability, too. The largest source of epidermal cytokine production has been attributed to keratinocytes, where IL-1 and TNF α may have the greatest role as keratinocyte-derived immune response modifiers.

Studies using reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction have shown that DETC possess mRNA for a number of cytokines, including: IL-1 α , IL-2, IL-3, IL-6, IL-7, TNF α , TNF β , GM-CSF, and IFN γ (64, 105). They also secret keratinocyte growth factor (KGF) and so, may play a role in promoting epidermal cell growth after injury (107). The cytokine produced in largest quantities by DETC is probably IL-2, which would be consistent with the large amounts produced by normal α/β T cells. However, while mRNA for another Th1-type cytokine, INF γ , is expressed constitutively in DETC, IL-2 is not and is only expressed after activation, especially by Con A (64). The cytokine repertoire of DETC seem to be of the Th1 classification. The only Th2 cytokine observed is IL-4 and only upon secondary stimulation by both Con A and rIL-2 in short-term culture (264). Stimulation of long-term DETC lines by anti-TCR MoAb showed increased levels of IL-2 and IFN γ , but no IL-4. These results are consistent with DETC producing a Th1 cytokine profile and would correlate with cytokine production by T cells infiltrating the skin in a normal delayed-type hypersensitivity reaction, in which no humoral response is present. As previously mentioned, IFN γ is capable of upregulating MHC class II and

Add

ICAM-1 on keratinocytes, but this cytokine can also inhibit the growth of these cells (63). T lymphocyte-derived IFNγ can stimulate keratinocytes to secrete IL-7 (3), which in turn, acts as a growth factor for DETC. This along with the fact that DETC secrete KGF, suggest an intimate interaction between keratinocytes and DETC.

Interferon-gamma (IFNy) was first recognized over 30 years ago for its anti-viral activity (114). Research concerning IFNy over the past decade, however, has determined a much broader immunologic role for this cytokine, with its role an as anti-viral agent actually being quite minor. IFNy belongs to a protein family which is divided into three classes -- interferon- α , - β and - γ -- all of which are related by their ability to give protection against viral infection (30). However, IFNy is unrelated to its interferon counterparts at both the genetic and protein levels and its antiviral activity is much lower than the other two interferons while its ability to function as an immunomodulator far exheeds that of its interferon counterparts (77). Although the major source of IFNy is T lymphocytes, all cells, with the exception of erythrocytes, possess a recptor for it (30). Possibly the most important function of this cytokine is its antiproliferative effect on Th2 murine CD4+ cells, which makes it key in determining the type of T-helper immune function that develops during an immune response, steering it away from the Th2 humoral response and toward the Th1 cell-mediated branch of immune effector function (30). In contrast, IL-10 inhibits IFNy production by Th1 CD4+ T cells, inhibiting cell-mediated immune responses (68). In effect, IFNy and IL-10 regulate the development of immune effector functions between the Th1 cell-mediated branch and the Th2 humoral branch. Another well-known attribute of this cytokine is its ability to upregulate MHC class I and II molecules on the surface of immunologically-important cells that do not normally express them, such as mononuclear phagocytes, endothelial cells and keratinocytes (30, 109, 51), which is an important step in antigen presentation. IFNy is also capable of helping immature myeloid precursor cells

differentiate into mature monocytes (30). It promotes antigen presenting abilities of macrophages, not only by upregulating MHC class II, but also by increasing the levels of some intracellular enzymes that may be vital to this task (47, 2) and its ability to induce nitric oxide production suggests that IFN γ plays an indirect role in the killing of intracellular pathogens (30). In addition, IFN γ may enhance the interaction between macrophages and T cells by inducing adhesion molecule expression on macrophages (35) and it plays a role in lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α) by various murine macrophage populations (25, 19).

The most important cytokine involved in T cell proliferation is Interleukin-2 (IL-2). The activity of IL-2 was first observed in cell culture supernatants of human peripheral blood lymphocytes which had been stimulated with certain T cell mitogens (93). It was soon discovered that the activities of T cell growth factor (TCGF), thymocyte stimulation factor (TSF), thymocyte mitogenesis factor (TMF), T cell replacing factor (TRF) and killer helper factor (KHF) could be attributed to the same cytokine (93). The activity of IL-2 is derived from a single protein of 15.4 kD, which provides all of its signaling for T cell DNA duplication and subsequent mitosis and is produced by Th1 CD4+ T cells following mitogen or MHC-restricted antigen activation (93). Following this finding, it was determined that IL-2 bound to activated T cells by way of a unique receptor. This receptor is a heterodimer consisting of α and β subunits (37). The β subunit is constitutively expressed on resting T cells, but the α subunit is only found on those T cells whose antigen receptor has already been triggered (92). With the fully-assembled receptor confined to activated cells only, T helper cells can ensure conservation of clonality of a T cellmediated immune response through the secretion a non-clone specific cytokine. So, in effect, responsiveness to IL-2 becomes an antigen dependent autocrine or paracrine proliferative factor for those T cell-bearing functional IL-2 receptors. In addition to this OKLAHOMA STATE INITIEDSINU

important activity, IL-2 also plays a role in growth of B cells, natural killer (NK) and lymphokine-activated killer (LAK) cells (93, 20), augmenting IFNy expression (76); and, inducing IL-6 production by human monocytes (69).

Superantigens

The concept of superantigens was first brought to light in 1973, when antigens from unmapped genetic loci able to generate intense mixed leukocyte reactions between MHC-identical mice were found (1). These loci were mapped outside the MHC and were termed minor lymphocyte stimulating (Mls) antigens. However, their functions were not discovered for some time when in the late 1980s, two groups found the deletion of certain T cell subsets in mice expressing Mls antigens and it was found that the recognition by the TCR of the MIs antigens was determined by the TCR VB domain (1). Roughly at the same time, other groups discovered that certain bacterial toxins from various strains of Staphylococcus aureus, responsible for causing food poisoning, possessed properties similar to those of Mls antigens. These bacterial proteins were the staphylococcal entertoxins. They are recognized by a high frequency of T cells determined by the particular type of TCR VB domain (45, 1), much like that of MIs antigens. Scientists were somewhat perplexed as to any significance in the similarities between bacterial proteins and endogenous Mls antigens in mice until the true source of the Mls antigens was determined. A type B retrovirus transmitted through the mammary glands of mice was found to encode a superantigen within the 3' long terminal repeat of its genome (1) and was called mouse mammary tumor virus (MMTV). This discovery demonstrated the first correlation between bacterial enterotoxins and MIs antigens: both came from infectious sources.

Bacterial superantigens produced by the organism *Staphylococcus aureus* cause a number of disease states in humans, including food poisoning and shock, caused by

24

staphylococcal enterotoxins A, B, C1, C2, C3, D and E; toxic shock syndrome, caused by toxic shock syndrome toxin; and scalded skin syndrome, caused by exfoliating toxins A and B (61). Of these, the enterotoxins have been best described and characterized of all exogenous superantigens. These are highly related proteins of intermediate size that share similar functions, but have been divided into two groups: SEA, E, and D in one and SEB, C1, and C3 in the other.

As previously stated, these staphylococcal superantigens activate their respective T cell subset by intimate interaction with the TCR V β domain of those T cells. Recent work has shown that these superantigens interact with an exposed region of the V β domain that appears to be a β -pleated sheet and also, the toxins engage both the TCR and MHC class II surface antigens that are found on a number of immune cells within the body. However, their initial target ligand is the MHC class II molecule itself (61) and its presence is essential for T cell activation by these superantigens. TCR affinity for the toxins is relatively low and is only increased after interaction with MHC class II (33). Work with the Raji B cell line has demonstrated a binding of SEA to certain portions of its MHC class II markers (64), but not to MHC class II negative mutant Raji B cells (67). Also, fibroblasts, which are not normally able to bind SEA, are capable of doing so after transfection with HLA-DR genes (67). It is believed that this interaction with class II MHC is not to bind the MHC molecule to the TCR, but rather to induce a conformational change in the toxin to increase its affinity toward the TCR V β region (33).

The ability of the staphylococcal superantigens to activate such a vast heterogeneity of T cell specificities lies in the way in which these toxins are presented to the body's immune system. When a nominal antigen is encountered by an antigen presenting cell, it is internalized and broken down into peptide fragments by proteolytic enzymes. The relevant antigenic determinant is then complexed with newly-synthesized MHC class II molecules with the entire complex finally expressed on the cell surface for presentation to the appropriate T helper cell (49). The MHC class II molecule is made up of a membranebound alpha and beta chain, each comprised of two extracellular domains (60). The most significant structure of this molecule bears two near-parallel α -helical structures that form a cleft which is supported by an extended β -pleated sheet (60). This forms the peptide binding groove where an antigenic peptide fragment is displayed for presentation. Encountering the antigenic epitope, along with the self MHC markers, provide the first activating signals for the T cell. In the case of superantigens, however, this entire process is much different. First, these proteins do not need to be processed by the antigen presenting cell and proteolytic fragments of these toxins will not activate T cells at all (34). Also, they are able to associate with various MHC class II alleles and isotypes from a number of different mammalian species (33). Another unique feature of superantigen presentation is the fact that they do not occupy the peptide binding groove of the MHC class II molecule when recognition by the T cell takes place. This has been seen by studies showing that SEB association with class II MHC molecules does not inhibit subsequent antigen presentation of hen egg lysozyme peptides to T cell clones (27) and further supported when it was found that the binding of TSST-1 did not prevent the binding of a HLA-DR-restricted peptide (50).

OKT.AHOMA STATE TRITEDOWN

Although the mechanisms by which α/β CD4+ T cells are activated by staphylococcal superantigens has been well documented, the means by which these toxins interact with γ/δ T cells is less well understood. Recent work has shown, however, that γ/δ T cells are capable of proliferating in response to staphylococcal enterotoxins and also show cytotoxic activity, possibly by more than one pathway. Studies using human γ/δ T cells have demonstrated an ability for these cells to show proliferation (32, 94) in the presence of, and cytotoxicity toward, SEA-coated targets, restricted to those cells bearing the V γ 9 receptor and only in the presence of MHC class II positive accessory cells. This type of response usually responds to only SEA, unlike α/β T cells which are known to respond to a wide variety of staphylococcal enterotoxins (87). Other findings have also shown that peripheral blood Vy9+ T cells were capable of lysing SEA-coated target cells. Interestingly, some of these cells possessed the IgG FcRIII and were capable of mediating antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) against SEA-coated target cells, but only in the presence of certain human sera. When this sera was depleted of anti-SEA antibodies, cytotoxicity of these T cells was inhibited (86). These works and others (79, 59) seem to indicate that responses of γ/δ T cells to SEA are restricted to those cells bearing the Vy9 chain, but others have indicated that this may not necessarily be the case (32, 94). A certain Vy9 subset was shown to expand by in vitro culture with a 1 to 3 kD proteaseresistant fraction from a mycobacterial lysate at a degree of 1 out of every 6 cells. This response was dependent upon MHC class II+ presenting cells and overall, demonstrates a superantigenic capacity of certain mycobacterial ligands (79). This, along with the fact that $V\gamma9+$ cells are the most prevalent γ/δ T cell in the periphery suggest that these cells may be significant in fighting off bacterial infections.

OWLAHOMA STATE INTERPORT

In these processes, the response to SEA-coated target cells requires accessory or presenting cells positive for MHC class II as evidenced by inhibition of cytotoxicity or proliferation by addition of anti-MHC class II antibodies or removing accessory cells (86, 87, 79, 94, 59). However, γ/δ T cells obtained from peripheral blood and cerebrospinal fluid of patients with multiple sclerosis were able to proliferate in response to, and show cytotoxic activity toward, B cells pulsed with either SEA, SEB, or TSST, all in a non-MHC-restricted fashion (99). Most of what is known about the activity of γ/δ T cells toward staphylococcal enterotoxins has been derived from the human system. Little is
known about this relationship in mice and nothing at the present time is known about superantigen response to DETC.

CHAPTER 2

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

All animals used in this study were 6-to-8 week old Balb/c female mice obtained from Charles River (Wilmingtion, MA). These mice were maintained in a licensed facility at Oklahoma State University.

Toxins

Staphylococcal Enterotoxin A (SEA, Toxin Technologies, Sarasota, FL) was applied to dorsal trunk skin and epidermal skin sections of Balb/c mice in DETC depletion studies. SEA was also added to whole epidermal cell cultures to induce production of cytokines. Biotinylated SEA (Toxin Technologies) was used in the immunofluorescent SEA binding studies of epidermal cell suspensions.

Media and Solutions

Phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, 0.15 M) was used to make up solutions of trypsin (type II from porcine pancreas, Sigma Chemical Company, St. Louis, MO), deoxyribonuclease I (DNase I, from bovine pancreas, Sigma), antibody dilutions, resuspension of lyophilized SEA and hydration of murine dorsal and ventral skin sheets. One liter of 0.15 M PBS contains 1.15 g. dibasic anhydrous sodium phosphate (Na₂HPO₄, Fisher), 8.0 g. reagent grade sodium chloride (NaCl), 0.2 g. potassium chloride (KCl, Fisher) in deionized water and pH adjusted to 7.2 before autoclave sterilization for 20 minutes at 15 psi. PBS with Tween 20 (Sigma) was used in washing steps in immunohistochemical staining of epidermal skin sections. PBS with 1% BSA (Fisher) and 0.05% NaN₃ (Sigma) was used in the immunofluorescent staining of epidermal cells.

Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO, Sigma) was used to resuspend SEA for use in DETC depletion studies or as an SEA control in the same experiments.

In immunohistochemical staining of DETC, skin sections were floated on 2 M sodium bromide (NaBr, Fisher Chemical) to separate the epidermis from dermis.

Cell washings in the generation of epidermal cell suspensions were performed in Cellgro RPMI 1640 tissue culture media (Fisher) supplemented with 5% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Atlanta Biologicals, Norcross, GA), 100 U/ml penicillin (Sigma), 0.1 mg/ml streptomycin (Sigma), 0.1 mM MEM non-essential amino acids (Sigma), and 0.1 mM sodium pyruvate (Sigma). Epidermal cells were cultured in the same media with the addition of 2 mM L-glutamine (Sigma), 5mg/L gentamycin (Sigma) and 15% FBS.

Antibodies and Conjugates

Purified monoclonal anti-mouse CD90 (Thy-1.2, Pharmingen, San Diego, CA) and monoclonal anti-mouse γ/δ TCR (Pharmingen) were used as primary antibody in the immunohistochemical staining of DETC in fresh epidermal skin sections. Both of these monoclonal antibodies (MAb) are of the IgG isotype. Phycoerythrin (PE)-labelled antimouse CD90.2 (Pharmingen) was used in immunofluorescent binding studies of epidermal cell suspensions. Fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-conjugated avidin (Accurate Antibodies, Westbury, NY) was used to verify biotinylated SEA binding to epidermal cells in the same studies.

Epidermal Cell Suspensions

Body trunk hair was removed from mice by clippers and a depilatory before being sacrificed in an ether chamber. Dorsal and ventral body trunk skin was surgically removed and placed in a clean 100 mm x 15 mm Petri dish (Fisher), keeping skin rolled up to prevent drying out. Ears were removed, split with forceps and placed epidermis-side up on a fresh solution of 0.25% trypsin. The tail was cut off, split down one side by a scalpel and skin removed and also placed epidermis-side up on the trypsin solution. Dorsal and ventral trunk skin were then laid epidermis-side down in the clean Petri dish and the subcutaneous layer scraped away by a scalpel. After cutting the dorsal skin into two equal parts, the sections were placed epidemis-side up on the trypsin. Body skin, ears, and tail were then incubated for one hour at 37° C in the presence of 5% CO₂. Following incubation, skin and ear sections were transferred, epidermis-side down, to a 100 mm x 20 mm deep well Petri dish (Fisher). Immediately after removing the dermal layer, all sections were immersed in a 0.05% DNase I solution and rubbed with a blunt-tip glass rod to bring cells into suspension. The epidermal layer of the tail was separated from its dermal layer and rubbed with the glass rod. Three to four equal volumes of RPMI 1640 with 5% FBS were added to the suspension and the suspension aspirated approximately 20 times with a 60cc syringe (Fisher), then filtered through a Falcon 70 µm nylon mesh cell strainer (Becton Dickinson, Lincoln Park, NJ) into a Sarstedt 50 ml test tube (Sarstedt, Princeton, NJ). The cells were then pelleted in a Damon CRU-5000 centrifuge (IEC, Needham Heights, MA) for 8 minutes at 4° C and washed three times to remove all traces of DNase I. Cells were resuspended in 10 ml of tissue culture media and quantitated by trypan blue (Sigma) exclusion on a hemacytometer and adjusted to the desired concentration.

ORT ALIOMA STATE TRATEMON

Immunohistochemical Staining of Epidermal Skin Sections

Hair was removed from the dorsal side of a female Balb/c mouse and the mouse then sacrificed in an ether chamber. Dorsal trunk skin was surgically removed and placed epidermal-side down in a clean Petri dish and kept hydrated with culture media or PBS. Skin was then cut into a desired number of 0.7 cm² sections and each placed in separate wells of a Falcon 24-well flat-bottom tissue culture plate (Becton Dickinson, Lincoln Park, NJ) containing three 1.3 cm antibiotic filter discs and 600 µl culture media. Subsequently, 25 µl of SEA or DMSO were applied to the skin sections. Sections were incubated for 48 hours at 37° C in the presence of 5% CO2. After incubation, skin was floated on 2 M sodium bromide and incubated for 1 hour at 37° C with 5% CO2. In a Petri dish of PBS, epidermis was removed from the dermis by scraping with a scalpel and then transferred to a new 24-well plate. Epidermal sections were rinsed with PBS and fixed in cacodylatebuffered formaldehyde for 15 minutes at 4° C. Hydrogen peroxide was added and skin sections incubated for 30 minutes on a plate shaker, washed three times with PBS-Tween and incubated for another 20 minutes with fresh hydrogen peroxide. Sections were washed again and blocked with 10% FBS for 20 minutes on a plate shaker at room temperature. After washing, epidermal sections were incubated overnight at 4° C with antimouse Thy-1.2 or anti-mouse y/8 TCR. After incubation with the 1° Ab, sections were washed and incubated overnight at 4° C with biotinylated anti-mouse IgG from a Vectastain Elite Mouse IgG ABC kit (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA). After washing, skin was incubated with Vectastain ABC reagent at room temperature for 15 minutes on a plate shaker. During this incubation, substrate solution was prepared from a Vector AEC peroxidase substrate kit or Vector VIP peroxidase kit (Vector), depending on the color desired. After the final washing, substrate solution was added and sections incubated for 5-15 minutes at room temperature until the desired color was achieved. Sections were

ORT ALIOMA STATE TRANSPAR

then mounted in glycerol on microscope slides and stained cells quantified with the aid of a epifluorescent microscope.

Double Immunofluorescent Staining of Epidermal Cells

An epidermal cell suspension was prepared from 1 Balb/c female mouse and resuspended in PBS-BSA-NaN, at a concentration of 1 x 10⁷ cells per ml. One ml of the cell suspension was placed in a 15 ml test tube as the control and 1 ml placed in another test tube as the experimental group. Biotinylated-SEA (Toxin Technologies) was added to the experimental group at a final concentration of 10 µg/ml, while the control group received an equal amount of PBS. The tubes were placed on a tube rotor and rotated slowly for 2 hours at 4° C. Cells were subsequently washed twice with PBS and then fixed in cacodylate-buffered formaldehyde for 15 minutes at room temperature on the tube rotor. The cells were washed again and transferred to clean microcentrifuge tubes at a concentration of 1 x 10⁷ cells per ml, spun at low speed (8500 rpm) in a table top BHG Z230 M high speed centrifuge (BHG & Co, Germany) for 15 seconds and the supernatant discarded. Cells were suspended in both 50 µl of avidin-FITC at 1:50 dilution in PBS-BSA-NaN, and 50 µl of PE-labelled anti-CD90.2 at 1.20 dilution in PBS-BSA-NaN, and incubated on a tube rotor for 30 minutes at 37° C. Cells were washed twice and each pellet resuspended in 50 µl of glycerol, mounted on microscope slides and percentages of labeled cells enumerated.

Cytokine Production by Epidermal Cells After SEA Application

An epidermal cell suspension was obtained, as previously described, from 1 Balb/c female mouse and cells resuspended at a concentration of 1×10^6 cells/ml. After the

nts for a final Super-C until p was or, MI) un in a at 4° C for levre also are and

correct cell concentration was obtained, 1 ml of the cell suspension was then plated out in a Falcon 24-well tissue culture plate (Fisher), in duplicate, for each of the time points for 12 hours, 24 hrs, and 48 hrs. SEA was then added to each experimental well at a final concentration of 5 µg/ml (50 µl) and 50 µl of PBS added to each control group. Supernatants for each group were taken at their respective time points and stored at -80° C until all points were taken. Once all supernatants were collected, 1.6 ml of each group was loaded into a 4 kD NanoSpin Plus microconcentrator (Gelman Sciences, Ann Arbor, MI) previously blocked overnight with a 1% BSA solution. Supernatants were then spun in a Sorvall RC 5B Plus centrifuge (Du Pont, Newtown, CT) at 6800 g for 2 1/2 hours at 4° C to obtain 4x concentrated samples. Concentrated supernatants were then analyzed for levels of IFNγ and IL-2 production (Genzyme, Cambridge, MA). Supernatants were also tested for IL-10 levels by ELISA (Genzyme), but were assayed directly from culture and were not concentrated.

Interferon-y ELISA

IFN γ from epidermal cell culture supernatants was assayed by Intertest- γ Mouse Interferon- γ ELISA kit (Genzyme). This assay employed the multiple antibody sandwich principle, where a 96-well microtiter plate was precoated with monoclonal anti-mouse IFN γ . Tissue culture samples with the suspected IFN γ were added to the necessary number of wells in 100 µl volumes and incubated overnight at 4° C to allow IFN γ to bind to anti-mouse IFN γ mAb. Wells were washed four times with the provided wash buffer and 100 µl of biotinylated polyclonal anti-mouse IFN γ was added to each well and again, incubated overnight at 4° C. Washing was performed as before and horseradish peroxidaseconjugated streptavidin was added and incubated for two hours at room temperature to allow binding to the biotin. Wells were washed one final time and substrate reagent of tetramethylbenzidine and buffered hydrogen peroxide added, then the subsequent enzymesubstrate reaction allowed to proceed for 15 minutes at room temperature. This reaction was stopped by the addition of 100 μ l of 1 M sulfuric acid stop solution and the plate read in a Vmax kinetic microplate reader (Molecular Devices Corp., Palo Alto, CA) at 450 nm.

Interleukin-2 ELISA

Epidermal cell culture supernatants were assayed for IL-2 by the Intertest-2X Mouse Interleukin-2 ELISA kit (Genzyme). Tissue culture supernatants and IL-2 standards were added to wells precoated with monoclonal anti-mouse IL-2 and incubated overnight at 4° C. Addition of biotinylated polyclonal anti-mouse IL-2 followed and after overnight incubation at 4° C, streptavidin-peroxidase for 2 hours at room temperature. Finally, tetramethylbenzidine in buffered hydrogen peroxide substrate reagent was added for 10 minutes, the reaction stopped by 1 M sulfuric acid stop solution and read by ELISA plate reader at 450 nm. All steps involved 100 µl volumes and wells were washed 4 times with the provided wash solution between each incubation period.

Interleukin-10 ELISA

Epidermal cell culture supernatants were assayed for IL-10 by the Intertest-10X Mouse Interleukin-10 ELISA kit (Genzyme). Tissue culture supernatants and IL-10 standards were added to wells precoated with monoclonal anti-mouse IL-10 and incubated overnight at 4° C. Addition of biotinylated polyclonal anti-mouse IL-10 followed and after overnight incubation at 4° C, streptavidin-horseradish peroxidase was added for 2 hours at room temperature. Finally, tetramethylbenzidine in buffered hydrogen peroxide substrate

OZT A ETORA & CIT A FITT TH WH

2

reagent was added for 15 minutes, the reaction stopped by 1 M sulfuric acid stop solution and read by ELISA plate reader at 450 nm. All steps involved 50 μ l volumes and wells were washed 3 times with the provided wash solution between each incubation period.

Summary

The purpose of the present study was to first determine if Staphylococcal enterotoxin A (SEA) could induce dendritic epidermal T cell (DETC) depletion from murine epidermis as has been previously shown with Langerhans cells (80). The second objective was to examine secretion of IFN γ and IL-2 from murine epidermal cells after stimulation with SEA. It has been shown that SEA is able to induce elevated production of IL-1 α and to a lesser extent, TNF α in epidermal cell suspensions (91). Also of interest was to determine if SEA was actually bound by the DETC itself. The results of these studies sought out a better understanding of the role of the DETC and how it may interact with other cells in the cutaneous immune response.

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS

The purpose of this study was to determine the physiological effects, if any, of Staphylococcal enterotoxin A (SEA) on dendritic epidermal T cells (DETC) found in murine epidermis and in doing so, help to elucidate the function of DETC within the epidermis. It has already been known that SEA can cause significant depletion of Langerhans cells (LC) from the epidermis (80) and is also capable of inducing non-T cell cytokine secretion from murine epidermal cell suspensions (91). The objective of this study was to determine if SEA could have similar effects on DETC. All data obtained in each investigation was pooled from three separate experiments and expressed as the mean \pm the standard error of the mean for each set of data. The student t-test was also performed to determine statistical significance between control and experimental groups.

Effects of SEA on DETC Depletion

As previously stated, SEA is very effective at causing Langerhans cell depletion from the epidermis (80). Other evidence from the same lab has suggested that these cells do, in fact, migrate out of the epidermis and through the underlying dermis and subcutaneous layers (Kuschell and Burnham, unpublished results), as IA+ cells were detected in these regions, in a time-dependent manner, following SEA treating of the skin. To determine whether or not DETC possess this same ability upon SEA stimulation, dorsal skin sections were treated with 100µg/ml of SEA, incubated for 48 hours at 37° C in the presence of 5% CO₂ and then stained for the γ/δ TCR surface antigen by peroxidase and Vector VIP substrate. As Figure 1 shows, SEA application on murine epidermis does not

deplete DETC. The original procedure with Langerhans cells was repeated to verify the stimulatory properties of the SEA and the results shown side-by-side with the DETC studies. Statistics performed, by way of the student t-test, verified that the differences in the results from the control group and SEA group were not statistically significant. The y/8 TCR monoclonal antibody used in the immunohistochemical staining of the epidermal tissue sections was chosen due to the fact that although, on extremely rare occasions, an α/β + T cell will migrate up into the epidermis, the DETC is the only cell in that compartment possessing a T cell receptor of the y/δ variety (16). To corroborate the results given in this first experiment, the study was repeated, but a mouse anti-Thy-1.2 monoclonal antibody was used this time to visualize the DETC. Langerhans cells were not stained for in this experiment, since the SEA was proved to have been effective against it in the first depletion experiment utilizing mouse anti- $\frac{1}{\sqrt{\delta}}$ TCR as the DETC marker. The results from this follow-up experiment are displayed in Figure 2. As the figure shows, there is no depletion of Thy-1+ cells from the epidermis after SEA application to the skin. Again, the student t-test was utilized and it was determined that the numerical differences between the control and experimental groups was not statistically significant. The overall average numbers of cells per mm² were slightly lower in this instance than in the results from Figure 1 and may be caused by a difference in receptor density between the γ/δ TCR surface antigen and Thy-1, but was not verified. The cell number differences between the two experiments was not however, statistically significant as evidenced by the student t-test.

NET ATTOXA OTTAMEN

414

Although it was shown that DETC were not depleted from sections of murine skin *in vitro*, an experiment had not been attempted to ascertain the possibility that these cells would respond differently to SEA *in vivo*, and so, see reduced numbers. On the other hand, certain preservatives used in topical medications and foods possessed the ability to



VAL ALLORGY DUDY MAN

Figure 1. Effects of SEA on the depletion of Langerhans cells and DETC from murine epidermis. The values shown represent the mean \pm SEM determined by pooling the data from three separate experiments.



2

AAULT LULU T 2 & V AA

Figure 2. Effects of Thy-1.2 positive DETC depletion from murine epidermis following SEA application. The values shown represent the mean \pm SEM determined by pooling the data from three separate experiments.

increase the number of resident DETC in vivo (82), and although SEA is not structurally similar to any of those chemical compounds, the possibility that SEA may actually increase the number of DETC had not been explored. To establish the possibility of a significantly increased or decreased number of DETC upon *in vivo* application of SEA, 25 μ l of SEA at a concentration of 100 μ g/ml was painted onto bare dorsal trunk skin of a female Balb/c mouse once per day over a period of four days. The mouse was sacrificed, the treated skin cut into sections and stained with mouse anti-Thy-1.2 monoclonal antibody, as previously described. As the results show in Figure 3, the number of DETC present in SEA and control groups was comparable. However, there was a slightly more noticeable decline in the SEA group's numbers, but in comparing the two groups by the student t-test, differences were determined to not be statistically significant.

>===

Therefore, unlike Langerhans cells, DETC do not appear to migrate, or are not depleted, from murine epidermis following stimulation with SEA. These results may not be surprising, however, since the role played by the LC is that of premier antigen presenting cell of the epidermis. Currently, the functional role of the DETC is not known and their ability to interact with or respond to superantigen has not been previously explored. These data demonstrate that SEA shows no significant ability to affect the number of Thy-1.2+ or γ/δ TCR+ cells in murine epidermis.

Binding of SEA to Thy-1 Positive Epidermal Cells

One of the significant questions to be asked in determining the ability of DETC to play a role in SEA-induced immune responses addresses whether or not DETC have receptors for the toxin itself. It has been shown that in Langerhans cell migration caused by SEA stimulation, IL-1 α and to a lesser extent, TNF α may be the primary signals that initiate this migratory response (90). Although the application of SEA to mouse skin



Figure 3. Effects of DETC depletion from murine epidermis after in vivo application of SEA. The values shown represent the mean \pm SEM determined by pooling the data from three separate experiments.

induces LC migration from the epidermis, it is still not known whether or not the toxin actually does bind to the cell.

>----

To determine the binding affinity of DETC toward SEA, whole epidermal cell suspensions were incubated with biotinylated SEA, fixed in cacodylate-buffered formaldehyde and incubated with avidin-FITC and phycoerythrin-conjugated mouse anti-Thy-1.2 monoclonal antibody. Cells were then mounted on microscope slides and fluorescent cells enumerated at 400x total magnification on a fluorescent microscope. The percentages of both single- and double-labelled cells are shown in Table 1. Those cells which bound SEA were determined to be those that displayed a bright optic yellow color under the appropriate filter. Numerous cells portrayed a dull, faint yellow color, but only those cells giving off a color many magnitudes higher were counted as positive. PE-labelled cells excited under the appropriate filter as a brilliant red. Again, a number of cells gave off a faint reddish color, but only those few of a great intensity were recorded as being positive. Also, when both FITC- and PE-positive cells were counted for a field of view, the number of double-positive cells was determined. As Table 1 shows, no cells were ever found to be both FITC- and PE-positive. Interestingly, out of the many cells that gave a somewhat background or low level of yellow color, no cell found to be Thy-1.2+ displayed any level of this color yellow color, whatsoever. Hence, there were no cells that were determined to bind SEA that were also positive for the DETC surface marker, Thy-1.2. In both groups, that which was incubated with SEA and that which was incubated without, the percentage of total epidermal cells expressing the Thy-1 surface marker was approximately 1%, which was consistent with the average number of DETC found in the epidermis (10, 111). Those cells binding SEA were not stained for any other surface markers, so whether they were Langerhans cells or keratinocytes remained undetermined.

Table 1

Binding of SEA to Thy-1+ epidermal cells as shown by immunoflourescence microscopy

	Average number of cells per trial	Percentage of FITC-positive cells	Percentage of PE-positive cells	Percentage of FITC and PE positive cells
Control Group (No SEA)	1,184.67	0.06 ± .04	1.12 ± .18	0
Experimental Group (SEA added)	1,738.33	0.56 ± .09	0.94 <u>+</u> .14	0

* Biotinylated SEA used and captured with avidin-FITC (floursceinisothiocyanate) added

* PE (phycoerythrin)-labeled anti-mouse Thy-1.2 monoclonal antibody

IFNy Secretion by Whole Epidermal Cell Suspensions

Previous studies have shown that epidermal cell subpopulations are capable of cytokine secretion upon stimulation with SEA (91). To determine if epidermal cells could secrete levels of IFNy, whole epidermal cell suspensions were obtained at a concentration of 1 x 10⁶ cells/ml and plated out in a 24-well tissue culture plate at 1 ml per well. The experiment was carried out over 48 hours, with 12, 24, and 48 hour time points. SEA was given to each well at a final concentration of 5 µg/ml for the experimental group, and PBS only for the control, and tissue culture supernatants harvested at the appropriate time point. After supernatants had been collected at each time point, IFNy levels were analyzed for both groups by ELISA. The experiment was repeated three times and the results averaged. These results are displayed in Figure 4. As the figure shows, levels of IFNy, in pg/ml, increased over the course of the 48 hour period, but the control groups increased, as well. This was consistent throughout repeated experiments. With the fear of possible lipopolysaccharide (LPS) levels in the media, due to bacterial contamination, stimulating the epidermal cells, the experiment was repeated with a certified pyrogen-free media, but levels of IFNy in control groups were not diminished (results not shown). Again, the experiment was repeated, but after the normal RPMI media, used for cell culture, was run over an endotoxin-depleting column in another attempt to remove possible pyrogen contamination. Again, IFNy control levels remained high (results not shown).

Although both SEA and control groups were increased in their levels of IFNy production over the course of the 48 hours of the experiment, the levels in the control group did tail off somewhat at 24 hours and did remain lower than the levels recorded from the SEA group. However, results from analysis of the data by the student t-test showed that the differences between the SEA and the control groups were not statistically significant.



Figure 4. SEA-induced IFN γ production by murine epidermal cells. The values determined represent the mean \pm SEM for each time point by pooling the data from three separate experiments.

Since DETC are the only cell in the epidermis capable of secreting IFNy (64, 105), it was determined that in the culture conditions of the experiment, DETC are capable of secreting increasing levels of IFNy over a period of time, at least for 48 hours. However, it was not determined what the nature of the stimulating factor was since IFNy levels consistently rose in the control group, which was not treated with SEA, as well as the SEA group itself.

IL-2 Secretion by Whole Epidermal Cell Suspensions

The second T cell cytokine examined for its ability to be produced by epidermal cells after SEA stimulation was IL-2. As with the experiments set up to look for levels of IFN γ production, epidermal cell suspensions were generated, plated out in a 24-well tissue culture plate, SEA added to one group, and tissue culture supernatants collected at three time points over a 48 hour period. Finally, supernatants were examined for levels of IL-2 by ELISA and the results displayed in Figure 5. The results show that small amounts of IL-2 are produced in increasing fashion over time, although those levels did not quite reach the quantity of IFN γ produced in the prior experiment. These experiments were also performed three times and the results from each time point averaged. The figure shows, much like the ELISA studies on IFN γ , that IL-2 levels increase over time in both the SEA and the control groups. Experiments using certified commercial pyrogen-free media and endotoxin-depleted media were performed, but the control levels observed remained similar to those previously observed (results not shown).

Although IL-2 levels in the control group increased with the SEA levels, they too, remained lower than the pg/ml levels expressed by the SEA group after 24 hours onward. The student t-test was performed, but the differences between the two groups was not shown to be statistically significant.

47



Figure 5. SEA-induced IL-2 production by murine epidermal cells. The values determined represent the mean \pm SEM for each time point by pooling the data from three separate experiments.

Like IFNy, IL-2 can only be produced by a single epidermal cell type -- the DETC -- and the results show that IL-2 can be produced by DETC over a 48 hour period in culture, but the source of stimulation remains to be elucidated.

IL-10 Secretion by Whole Epidermal Cell Suspensions

In addition to IFN γ and IL-2, whole epidermal cell suspensions were exposed to 5 μ g/ml levels of SEA over a 48 hour period and assayed for IL-10 by ELISA. In three separate experiments, it was determined that there were negligible levels of IL-10 produced in whole epidermal cell suspensions throughout the duration of the 48 hours of the experiment. These results were consistent in both experimental and control groups. As Figures 6 and 7 demonstrate, there is a propensity for the Th1 cytokine profile in epidermal cell suspensions in these studies, as shown by the accumulation of IFN γ and IL-2, while a shift away from the Th2 profile was demonstrated by a lack of IL-10 production.

Summary

The results from the investigations undertaken in this study have determined a number of things about the interaction between dendritic epidermal T cells (DETC) and the bacterial superantigen, Staphylococcal enterotoxin A (SEA). First, unlike Langerhans cells (LC), DETC are not depleted from the epidermis after exposure to SEA. When SEA was painted on mouse skin and stained for DETC cell surface markers Thy-1.2 and γ/δ T cell receptor, there was not any DETC depletion. Even *In vivo* experiments where daily painting of SEA on a live mouse was performed for four consecutive days, there was no



Figure 6. Overall cytokine secretion by murine epidermal cells following SEA stimulation. The values determined represent the mean \pm SEM for each time point by pooling the data from three separate experiments.



Figure 7. Overall cytokine secretion by murine epidermal cells in culture without SEA application. The values determined represent the mean \pm SEM for each time point by pooling the data from three separate experiments.

statistically significant reduction in the number of Thy-1.2 positive cells from the epidermis. Double fluorescent staining experiments demonstrated that no DETC, detected by phycoerythrin-labelled mouse anti-Thy-1.2 monoclonal antibody, were able to bind biotinylated SEA, which was detected by conjugating with avidin-florosceinisothiocyanate (FITC). No cell was detected for simultaneous binding by both florescent markers. In whole epidermal cell suspensions, DETC were able to produce IFNy and IL-2, but no IL-10, over a 48 hour period after initial stimulation by SEA. Although pg/ml levels of IFNy and IL-2 were relatively low, both increased over time. However, both SEA and control groups increased with the progression of the experiment. The cytokine levels from the control groups of both IFNy and IL-2 remained lower than its corresponding SEA group, but they were still increased and the differences determined to be statistically insignificant. Experiments were performed to determine the possibility of cell stimulation by bacterial lipopolysaccharide contamination in the tissue culture media, but results proved that this was probably not the cause of the cytokine production in the control groups of both experiments. The true cause of this stimulation remains unknown.

CHAPTER 4

DISCUSSION

The dendritic epidermal T cell (DETC) exists as a resident dendritic cell in murine epidermis which constitutes a part of the cutaneous immune response system in mice. It has been a curious phenomenon that this cell population should exist as a resident epidermal cell bearing a γ/δ T cell receptor which is found in no other mammal than mice. First reported in 1983 (10, 111), it was not until the discovery of the T cell receptor (53) on the DETC that researchers began to ask what role, if any, this cell played in the cutaneous immune response. A number of characteristics have been attributed to DETC, both in vivo and in vitro, since their discovery, but their true physiologic role remains unknown. Since this cell has only been found in the murine system, the true immunologic role of DETC, and especially how DETC interact with the other cellular components of the skin immune system, is of great interest.

Previous studies using bacterial superantigens -- specifically, Staphylococcal enterotoxins -- have been effective in elucidating epidermal Langerhans cell cytokine production, migration and possible mechanisms for how this migration is initiated (80, 90, 91). It is known that these superantigens have a great capacity to stimulate peripheral α/β T lymphocytes by their novel interaction with only the V β domain of the α/β TCR. Thus, much of the molecular mechanisms behind this interaction are now understood. However, superantigen interaction with γ/δ T cells is not well understood and studies in this area have been fewer in number than those of their α/β counterparts. The work that has been done in the area of γ/δ T cell-superantigen interaction has been done in the human system and no studies to date have attempted to determine what effects Staphylococcal superantigens have on DETC. The purpose of this study was to use Staphylococcal enterotoxin A (SEA) to alter the physiology of DETC in an attempt to better understand their physiologic function in the skin. Moreover, we wanted to use superantigens as a model for looking at how DETC may interact with the other immune cells within the epidermis, namely Langerhans cells and keratinocytes, and what their possible role may be in a cutaneous immune response.

Being the premier antigen-presenting cell in the skin, the Langerhans cell (LC) must pick up foreign antigen that has compromised the skin's outer layers and present it to the proper T cell clone to induce a contact hypersensitivity response. To accomplish this, they must travel out of their resident environment and migrate to draining lymph nodes where antigen presentation can take place. Previous studies have shown that staphylococcal enterotoxins are capable of inducing a migratory response in LC after toxin painting on dorsal trunk skin of Balb/c mice (80), which was similar to results obtained after UVB exposure of murine epidermis (18). In these studies, staphylococcal enterotoxin A exhibited the greatest effect on LC depletion. Although UVB-induced depletion of LC shows similar effects as that of SEA-induced LC depletion, DETC are not depleted from the skin after UVB exposure, but hapten painting on mouse skin, followed by UV exposure resulted in a number of hapten-conjugated cells in draining lymph nodes that were Ia- but Thy-1+ (75). The same toxin was used in this study to determine if DETC could be depleted from murine epidermis in a manner similar to LC. After SEA painting on murine skin sections and immunohistochemical staining for γ/δ TCR surface antigen, it was demonstrated that, contrary to LC, DETC were not depleted in any way from the epidermis by this toxin. These results were confirmed by repeating the experiment with Thy-1 as the DETC staining marker. In this second experiment, there were no significant differences between the number of DETC in the group that received SEA and the control group that received only DMSO, but there was a higher number of stained cells, overall, in the groups that were stained after capture by the anti-y/8 TCR antibody. This could be the result of a slight difference in the number of T cell receptor antigens on the surface of DETC as opposed to that of the Thy-1 marker. It is also possible that the antibody for the γ/δ T cell receptor had a slightly higher affinity for its epitope and so, was able to bind more quickly, or to a higher degree within the time frame of the antibody incubation step. Regardless, both of these markers are highly selective for DETC in the epidermal environment and the DETC is the only cell in this region to be found with a γ/δ TCR. There are occasional α/β + CD8+ cells that make their way into the epidermal layers that might be counted along with DETC in these experiments, as they are also Thy-1+. However, this would be a highly unlikely source contributing to the difference in DETC numbers between the two experiments, since it was the group stained for γ/δ TCR that displayed the higher numbers, not those stained for Thy-1. In the in vivo study, our goal was to determine if SEA had the capacity to reduce the number of DETC in the living system or conversely, to determine if SEA could cause a proliferation of DETC. It has been suggested that certain topical substances applied to mouse skin could cause an increase in the population density of resident DETC (82). Although these substances are structurally unrelated to SEA, they do behave somewhat like pertussis toxin, which possesses the capacity for polyclonal T cell activation. All of the results from this previous study were evident within five days, which was the basis for the five day time period of our in vivo DETC depletion study. The results from this experiment show that the density of Thy-1+ DETC in murine epidermis after SEA application in vivo remains consistent with those results obtained from the same experiments conducted in vitro. However, Figure 3 shows that the number of DETC per mm² in the in vivo SEA group was slightly lower than that of the control group. The student t-test was performed on these data and determined that the differences between the two groups were not statistically significant. It is possible though, that the continual 1001

application over the four day period was able to cause an affect in the cells that a single dose was not able to induce. The numerical differences between the groups might be reduced if the number of trials was increased, as standard deviation usually decreases with the increase in the number of data sets.

Overall, the results have shown that unlike LC, DETC numbers are not reduced in the skin by SEA application, but this may be consistent with the role of this cell. Although, the true role of the DETC has not been elucidated, one popular theory is that DETC are highly involved in the process of immune surveillence within the epidermis (8, 107, 108) as evidenced by their ability to show non-MHC restricted cytotoxicity toward a number of tumor targets (70, 48, 74). Cells in the epidermis that were transformed would display altered self antigens on their surface and damaged cells may produce certain stress signals that the DETC would react to so as to rid the body of these cells before they compromised the immunologic integrity of the animal. This would be further supported by the limited diversity of the T cell receptor of DETC, implying that this cell recognizes a single antigen or highly conserved set of antigens. Since this cell is sessile, this antigen would have to be found in a much higher degree in the skin than in the periphery for DETC to be effective in playing out its physiologic role. In light of this, immune surveillence would be a role consistent with the properties of DETC. It is possible that DETC are not stimulated by SEA and even if this were, in fact, the case, migration out of the skin may not be how DETC would react to such a stimulus. With the highly conserved TCR of DETC, it may be very likely that SEA is not an antigen that it recognizes.

While LC modulation by SEA has demonstrated a migratory ability in tissue sections, it has also proven effective in cytokine induction of epidermal cells. Previous studies have indicated increased levels of IL-1 α and TNF α in epidermal cell suspensions that have been stimulated by SEA (90). These cytokines were, themselves, implicated in the

induction of LC depletion from the epidermis since depletion could be inhibited by antibodies specific for these cytokines (90). One of the focuses of this study was to examine T cell cytokine secretion in epidermal cell suspensions in the presence of SEA. It is known that DETC have the capacitiy to produce IFNy and IL-2 (41, 106, 64, 105), although it is unclear as to whether or not they produce IL-10, as well. Our studies focused on the SEA-induced secretion of these three cytokines by epidermal cells, but results suggest that the cytokine production observed in these epidermal cell cultures did not require stimulation by SEA. Over a 48 hour period, levels of INFy and IL-2 accumulated in increasing amounts, both SEA-treated and control groups. The student t-test was performed and it was determined that the differences between the SEA and control groups were not statistically significant. These results were consistently seen in three separate experiments and it was first thought that bacterial pyrogen contamination may have contributed to the elevated cytokine levels in the controls. However, a repeat of these experiments first using certified pyrogen-free tissue culture media and second, using media which had been passed over an endotoxin-depleting column proved ineffective at bringing control group levels down. It is possible that the conditions for obtaining the cell suspensions could be contributing to the production of activating factors responsible for the level of cytokine production observed in these studies. During epidermal cell suspension preparation, tissue is floated on a trypsin solution and the epidermis mechanically disrupted by glass rod scraping and syringe aspiration. It is very likely that during this preparation, a number of cells are damaged or destroyed. These cells could be producing substances such as heat shock proteins in response to this stress since it has been hypothesized that DETC play an active role in immune surveillance by recognizing heat shock proteins expressed by damaged or transformed cells (4). Also, it has been shown that DETC are able to respond to certain Mycobacterial antigens that are considerably similar to heat shock

proteins (66, 73). It may be possible that breakdown products of collagen, elastin or other cellular debris from damaged epidermal cells released into the culture may be activating either DETC directly or indirectly through the induction of cytokine release from LC or keratinocytes. It has been shown that cell separation techniques involving the passing of cells through glass wool and/or nylon columns could cause lymphocyte activation (113). Therefore, the culture techniques used here may result in the activation signals to DETC for cytokine secretion. Another possibility is that these cytokine levels are constitutive, but this is probably unlikely, especially with IL-2 since it is usually only found after cell stimulation of normal circulating T lymphocytes (93) and DETC (64, 72). Although SEA was not the likely source of the activation of these cells, the cytokine pattern expressed is consistent with a cell-mediated immune response which is expressed in the skin (100). Both IFNy and IL-2 are of the Th1 cytokine profile, which promote a T cellmediated immune response (30, 93). It is known that within the dermis and epidermis, only CD4+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes have been found -- as well as DETC in mice. There is a complete lack of B cells within this region (100). Also, contact hypersensitivity falls under the class of Type IV (delayed) hypersensitivity, which is the only type of hypersensitivity which is cell mediated (83). The IL-10 studies included in these experiments further support this cell-mediated theory, since IL-10 is a Th2 type cytokine and its activities include the downregulation of Th1 type immune responses (83, 68).

The investigations previously described in this study have demonstrated an inability of SEA to affect particular functions of DETC. One of the basic questions that must be addressed in examining a role of DETC modulation by SEA is whether or not SEA binds directly to the cell itself. In a further attempt to determine whether or not any interaction exists between SEA and DETC, binding studies were performed using immunofluorescent antibody staining. The results determined that no epidermal cells were simultaneously positive for Thy-1.2 surface antigen and SEA binding. In other words, cells either bound SEA or anti-Thy-1.2 antibody, but not both. This would suggest that DETC do not possess a receptor specific for SEA. If this is true, the results from the depletion studies and cytokine production studies would make perfect sense since SEA was determined in these experiments to be unable to bind to DETC. The interactions between staphylococcal superantigens and normal circulating α/β T lymphocytes has been well-studied and documented. However, many areas in γ/δ T cell-superantigen interactions remain unclear. Furthermore, most superantigen studies performed with γ/δ T cells have been in the human system and not in mice. Those studies have demonstrated, with some consistency, a capacity for staphylococcal enterotoxins to activate certain γ/δ T cell clones. Most work in this area has shown that clones bearing the Vy9 designation are the most reactive toward these toxins, SEA in particular (86, 87, 79, 59). They also appear to act independent of the J and C region of the γ chain or the δ chain altogether (59). There is some evidence, however, that T cells with γ chain designations other than V γ 9 can be activated by SEA and that SEA is not necessarily the only staphylococcal superantigen that yo reactive T cells respond to (86, 99). If this is the case, DETC might be expected to exhibit reactivity toward SEA. The TCR on DETC are highly conserved, to the point of being virtually monomorphic and nearly all of these DETC bear γ chains of the Vy3 designation (42, 5, 4, 108). In light of this, it would make sense that these studies would provide no positive results in the modulation of DETC by SEA when only $V\gamma9+T$ cells seem to be activated The interpretation of these results would only hold true, however, if they could by SEA. be carried across the human-mouse species barrier since all of the data implicating Vy9 as the lone target for SEA on yo T cells has been demonstrated in humans. There is certainly structural variability between homologous y chain designations in mice and humans and so, the assumption carried over from the human studies that DETC should not become

activated in any way by SEA may not be valid. Conversely, it is known that staphylococcal superantigens can stimulate T cells across species barriers (61), so SEA reactivity with DETC may still be feasable. If direct interaction of DETC with SEA does not occur, there is still a possibility for DETC to be activated by signals from other cells within its environment when they have been activated by the toxin. It is known that IL-7 and TNF α promote the growth of DETC (63) and IL-1 has been shown to have a proliferative effect (110) on these cells, as well. All of these cytokines are produced by cells that share the epidermal microenvironment with DETC (65) and it has been shown that at least IL-1a and TNF α can be induced in epidermal cells by SEA stimulation (91). The possible indirect effect of DETC stimulation or activation by SEA is unlikely in the present studies, though, since results in each independent study were negative. Without observable effects on DETC in these studies, no source for modulation need be explored. However, no dose response curves were persued in the migration and cytokine studies and it is possible that DETC may be modulated by SEA, but only in appropriate concentrations, which were not employed in these studies. In the depletion studies, SEA was applied to skin sections at a concentration of 100 µg/ml, although it is difficult to say how much of the toxin is penetrating the outer epidermis to reach the suprabasilar compartment occupied by DETC. This concentration applied to skin was sufficient, though, to induce significant depletion of LC from the epidermis (80). Also, SEA-induced cytokine secretion by LC was most effective at a final concentration in culture of 5 µg/ml (91). This same concentration of SEA was employed in the present cytokine studies based on the prior success in using it with LC. This, too, may be an improper concentration for inducing cytokine secretion by DETC, though. One experiment was performed using 10 µg/ml SEA for DETC cytokine induction, but showed results no different than those described here (data not shown). Concentrations of SEA lower than 5 µg/ml were not used, but it may be possible that only significantly lower concentrations of SEA would yield positive results. Studies with human $\gamma\delta$ T cells determined SEA ranges of 0.01-1 µg/ml to be most effective (86, 87, 99) and similar concentrations of SEA may be needed to induce a response in DETC.

In summary, DETC numbers were not reduced in the epidermis, either in vitro or in vivo, by SEA application to the skin, although identical applications of SEA does significantly reduce the number of Langerhans cells. It is entirely possible that even if SEA were found to bind to DETC that it would not cause them to deplete or migrate from the epidermis, as their main function may not require such action. DETC are the only epidermal cells capable of producing IL-2 and IFNy and our ELISA studies showed that they are capable of secreting both of these cytokines, over time, in culture. Also, these results support that fact that T cell responses within the skin are of the Th1 variety and IL-2 and IFNy fall under the Th1 cytokine profile. This is also supported by the absence in production of IL-10, a Th2-type cytokine and would be consistent since the expression of either cytokine class is normally mutually exclusive in relation to the other (83). However, the cytokine production observed was probably not due to SEA, but some other stimulatory factor in culture since experimental and control groups of both cytokine studies exhibited increased cytokine production over the course of the 48 hour study. Contaminating bacterial endotoxins were ruled out as a stimulus of cytokine release through experimentation, but cells stressed or mechanically damaged through the protocol could have contributed, in some fashion, the stimulus necessary for DETC activation in culture. In performing double immunoflourescent staining of epidermal cells for SEA and Thy-1 surface antigen, it was determined that there were no cells that were positive for both fluorescent markers used. We therefore concluded that DETC did not bind SEA. This would be consistent with literature which states that only $V\gamma 9+\gamma\delta$ T cells respond to SEA since virtually all DETC are Vy3+. However, these data were obtained using human, not murine, $\gamma\delta$ T cells and these results do not prove the findings of the previous experiments, but they do support them. No literature was found to determine if DETC respond in any way to SEA, or to superantigens, in general. All of these results would indicate that SEA does not modulate, or interact with, DETC. These studies are the first to address DETC-superantigen interaction and provide preliminary evidence in determining as to whether SEA can modulate DETC function.

REFERENCES

- Acha-Orbea H, MacDonald HR. 1995. Superantigens of mouse mammary tumor virus. Annu Rev Immunol 13: 459-486
- Allen PM, Unanue ER. 1987. Antigen processing and presentation at a molecular level. Adv Exp Med Biol 225: 147-154
- Ariizumi K, Meng Y, Bergstresser PR, Takashima A. 1995. IFN-γ-dependent gene regulation in keratinocytes. J Immunol 154: 6031-6039
- Asarnow DM, Kuziel WA, Bonyhadi M, Tigelaar RE, Tucker PW, Allison JP. 1988. Limited diversity of γδ antigen receptor genes of Thy-1+ dendritic epidermal cells. Cell 55: 837-847
- Asarnow DM, Goodman T, Lefrancois L, Allison JP. 1989. Distinct antigen receptor repertoires of two classes of murine epithelium-associated T cells. *Nature* 341: 60-62
- Augustin A, Kubo RT, Sim G-K. 1989. Resident pulmonary lymphocytes expressing the γ/δ T cell receptor. Nature 340: 239-241
- Belsito DV, Epstein SP, Shultz JM, Baer RL, Thorbecke GJ. 1989. Enhancement by various cytokines or 2-β-mercaptoethanol of Ia antigen expression on Langerhans cells in skin from normal aged and young mice: Effect of cyclosporine A. J Immunol 143: 1530-1536
- Bergstresser PR, Cruz PD Jr, Takashima A. 1993. Dendritic epidermal T cells: lessons from mice for humans. J Invest Dermatol 100: 80S-83S
- Bergstresser PR, Tigelaar RE, Streilein JW. 1984. Thy-1 antigen-bearing dendritic cells in murine epidermis are derived from bone marrow precursors. J Invest Dermatol 83: 83-87
- Bergstresser PR, Tigelaar RE, Dees JH, Streilein JW. 1983. Thy-1 antigen-bear- ing dendritic cells populate murine epidermis. J Invest Dermatol 81: 286-288
- 11. Besredka A. 1925. Immunisation Locale; Pensements Specifiques, Masson, 1925.
- Bienenstock J, Johnston N, Perey DYE. 1973. Bronchial lymphoid tissue. I. Morphologic characteristics. Lab Invest 28: 686-692
- Bigby M, Kwan T, Sy M-S. 1987. Ratio of Langerhans cells to Thy-1+ dendritic epidermal cells in murine epidermis influences the intensity of contact hypersensitivity. J Invest Dermatol 89: 495-499
- Birbeck MS, Breathnach AS, Everall JK. 1961. An electron microscopic study of basal melanocytes and high level clear cells (Langerhans cells) in vitiligo. J Invest Dermatol 37: 51-64
- Bos JD, Kapsenberg ML. 1993. The skin immune system: progress in cutaneous biology. Immunol Today 142: 75-78
- Bos JD, Kapsenberg ML. 1990. <u>Lymphocyte subpopulations of the skin immune</u> <u>system</u>. In: Bos, (ed.), *Skin Immune System (SIS)*, CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, 1990, pp 90-102.
- Breathnach SM, Katz SI. 1984. Thy-1+ dendritic cells in murine epidermis are bone marrow-derived. J Invest Dermatol 83: 74-78
- Burnham K and Rahman M. 1992. Effects of petrochemicals and ultraviolet radiation on epidermal IA expression in vitro. J Toxicol Env Health 35: 175-
- Celada A, Klemsz MJ, Maki RA. 1989. Interferon-gamma activates multiple pathways to regulate expression of the genes for major histocompatability class II I-A beta, tumor necrosis factor and complement

component C3 in mouse macrophages. *Eur J Immunol* 19: 1103-1109

- Ceuppens JL, Bloemmen FJ, Van Wauwe JP. 1985. T cell unresponsiveness to the mitogenic activity of OKT3 antibody results from a deficiency of monocyte Fc gamma receptors for murine IgG2a and inability to cross-link the T3-Ti complex. J Immunol 135: 3882-3886
- Chin YH, Falanga V, Streilein JW, Sackstein R. 1989. Lymphocyte recognition of psoriatic endothelium: evidence for a tissue-specific receptor/ligand interaction. J Invest Dermatol 93: 2 suppl, 82S-87S
- Chin YH, Falanga V, Streilein JW, Sackstein R. 1988. Specific lymphocyteendothelial cell interactions regulate migration into lymph nodes, Peyer's patches and skin. *Regional Immunology* 1: 78-83
- Chu TC, Morris JF, McLelland J. 1990. <u>Keratinocyte</u>. In: Bos, JD (ed.), Skin Immune System (SIS), CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, , 1990, pp 76-85.
- Chung S, Bergstresser PR, Takashima A. 1993. Mouse dendritic epidermal T cells exhibit chemotactic migration toward PAM 212 keratinocyte culture supernatants. *J Invest Dermatol* 101: 371-376
- 25. Collart MA, Belin D, Vassali JD, de Kossodo S, Vassali P. 1986. Gamma interferon enhances macrophage transcription of the tumor necrosis factor/cachectin, interleukin-1 and urokinase genes, which are controlled by short-lived repressors. J Exp Med 164: 2113-3118
- Cumberbatch M, Kimber I. 1990. Phenotypic characteristics of antigen-bearing cells in the draining lymph nodes of contact hypersensitized mice. Immunology 75: 257-263
- Dellabona P, Peccoud J, Kappler J, Marrack P, Benoist C, Mathis D. 1990. Superantigens interact with MHC class II molecules outside of the antigen groove. Cell 62: 1115-1121

- Elbe A, Kilgus O, Strohal R, Payer E, Schreiber S, Stingl G. 1992. Fetal skin: a site of dendritc epidermal T cell development. J Immunol 149: 1694-1701
- Ezquerra A, Wilde DB, McConnell TJ, Valas RB, Shevach EM, Coligan JE. 1992. Mouse autoreactive γ/δ T cells. II. Molecular characterization of the T cell receptor. J Immunol 22: 491-498
- Farra MA, Schreiber RD. 1993. The molecular cell biology of Interferon-γ and its receptor. Annu Rev Immunol 11: 571-611
- Fichtelius KE, Groth O, Liden S. 1970. The skin, a first level lymphoid organ? Int Arch Allergy 37: 607-620
- Fleischer B, Schrezenmeier H. 1988. T cell stimulation by Staphylococcal exotoxins. Clonally variable response and requirements for major histocompatability complex class II molecules on accessory or target cells. J Exp Med 167: 1697-1707
- 33. Fraser JD, Lowe S, Irwin MJ, Gascoigne NRJ, Judson KR. 1993. Structural model of Staphylococcal enterotxin A interaction with MHC class II antigens. In: Huber BT, Palmer E (ed.). Superantigens: A pathogen's view of the immune system. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Plainview, New York, 1993, pp 7-29.
- 34. Fraser JD. 1989. High affinity binding of Staphylococcal enterotoxins A and B to HLA-DR. Nature 339: 221-223
- 35. Frohman EM, Frohman TC, Dustin ML, Vayuvegula B, Choi B, Gupta A, van den Noort S, Gupta S. 1989. The induction of intercellular adhesion molecule I (ICAM-1) expression on human fetal astrocytes by interferon-gamma, tumor necrosis factor alpha, lymphotoxin and interleukin-1: relevance to intracerebral antigen presentation. J Neuroimmunol 23: 117-124

- Gaspari AA, Jenkins MK, Katz SI. 1988. Class II MHC-bearing keratinocytes induce antigen-specific unresponsiveness in hapten-specific Th 1 clones. J Immunol. 141: 2216-2220
- 37. Greene WC. 1986. The human interleukin-2 receptor. Ann Rev Immunol 4: 69-95
- Griscelli C, Vasalli P, McCluskey RT. 1969. The distribution of large dividing lymph node cells in syngeneic recipients after intravenous injection. J Exp Med 130: 1427-1451
- Guy-Grand D, Griscelli C, Vassalli P. 1974. The gut-associated lymphoid system: Nature and properties of the large dividing cells. *Eur J Immunol* 4: 435-443
- Havran WL, Grell SC, Duwe G, Kimura J, Wilson A, Kruisbeek AM, O'Brien RL, Born W, Tigelaar RE, Allison JP. 1989. Limited diversity of TCR γ chain expression of murine Thy-1+ dendritic epidermal cells revealed by Vγ3-specific monoclonal antibody. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 86: 4185-4189
- Havran WL, Poenie M, Tigelaar RE, Tsien RY, Allison JP. 1989. Phenotypic and functional analysis of γδ T cell receptor-positive murine dendritic epidermal clones. J Immunol 142: 1422-1228
- Havran WL, Allison JP. 1988. Developmentally ordered appearance of thymocytes expressing different T-cell antigen receptors. *Nature* 335: 443-445
- Hole JW, Koos KA. The Skin and Integumentary System. 1991. In: Jaffe EG (ed.) Human Anatomy. Wm. C. Brown Publishers, Dubuque, IA, 1991, pp 104-108.
- 44. Itohara S, Farr AG, Lafaille JJ, Bonneville M, Takagaki Y, Haas W, Tonegawa S.
 1990. Homing of a γδ thymocyte subset with homogeneous T cell receptors to mucosal epithelia. Nature 343: 754-757

- 45. Janeway CA, Yagi J, Conrad PJ, Katz ME, Jones B, Vroegop S, Buxser S. 1989. T cell responses to Mls and to bacterial proteins that mimic its behavior. Immunol Rev 107: 61-
- Janeway CA Jr, Jonews B, Hayday A. 1988. Specificity and function of T cells bearing γδ receptors. *Immunol Today* 9: 73-76
- 47. Johnson KP, Panitch HS. 1988. Effects of experimental recombinant interferons on multiple sclerosis. *Trans Am Clin Clim Assoc* 100: 171-176
- Kaminski MJ, Cruz PD Jr, Gerometta JS, Bergstresser PR, Takashima A. 1992. Dendritic epidermal T cells (DETC) are cytotoxic against skinderived tumor cells (abstr). Clin Res 40: 503
- Kapsenberg ML, Teunissen MBM, Bos JD. 1990. <u>Langerhans cells: a unique sub-populatikon of antigen presenting dendritic cells</u>. In: Bos, JD (ed.) Skin Immune System (SIS), CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, 1990, pp109-124.
- Karp DR, Teletski CL, Scholl P, Geha R, Long EO. 1990. The alpha 1 domain of the HLA-DR molecule is essential for high affinity binding of the toxic shock syndrome toxin-1. Nature 346: 474-476
- King DP, Jones PP. 1983. Induction of Ia and H-2 antigens on a macrophage cell line by immune interferon. J Immunol 131: 315-318
- Kobata T, Shinkai Y, Ligo Y, Kawassaki A, Yagita H, Ito S, Shimada S, Katz SI, Okumura K. 1990. Thy-1 positive dendritic epidermal cells contain a killer protein perforin. Int Immunol 2: 1113-1116
- 53. Koning F, Stingl G, Yokoyama WM Yamada H, Maloy WL, Tschachler E, Shevach EM, Coligan JE. 1987. Identification of a T3-associated γδ T cell receptor on Thy-1+ dendritic epidermal cell lines. Science 236: 834-837

- 54. Kyes S, Carew E, Carding SR, Janeway CA Jr, Hayday A. 1989. Diversity in T-cell receptor γ gene usage in intestinal epithelium. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 86: 5527-5531
- Langerhans P. 1868. Uber die Nerven der menschlichen Haut. Virchows Arch [Pathol Anat] 44: 325-337
- 56. Lefrancois L, Goodman T. 1989. In vivo modulation of cytolytic activity and Thy-1 expression in TCR-γδ+ intraepithelial lymphocytes. Science 243: 1716-1718
- Lewinsohn DM, Bargatze RF, Butcher EC. 1987. Leukocyte-endothelial cell recognition: evidence of a common molecular mechanism shared by neutrophils, lymphocytes and other leukocytes. J Immunol 138: 4313-4321
- Lewis JL, Tigelaar RE. 1989. Thymic dependence of Thy-1+ dendritic epidermal cells (abstr.) J Invest Dermatol 92: 471A
- 59. Loh EY, Wang M, Bartkowiak J, Wiaderkiewicz R, Hyjek E, Wang Z, Kozbor D. 1994. Gene transfer studies of T cell receptor-γδ recognition: specificity for Staphylococcal enterotoxin A is conveyed by Vγ9 alone. J Immunol 152: 3324-3332
- 60. Madden DR. 1995. The three-dimensional structure of peptide-MHC complexes. Annu Rev Immunol 13: 587-622
- 61. Marrack P, Kappler J. 1990. The Staphylococcal enterotoxins and their relatives. Science 248: 705-711
- Matsue H, Bergstresser PR, Takashima A. 1993. Keratinocyte-derived IL-7 serves as a growth factor for dendritic epidermal T cells in mice. J Immunol 151: 6012-6019
- Matsue H, Bergstresser PR, Takashima A. 1993. Reciprocal cytokine-mediated cellular interactions in mouse epidermis: Promotion of γ/δ T-cell

growth by IL-7 and TNF α and inhibition of keratinocyte growth by γ IFN. J Invest Dermatol 101: 543-548

- Matsue H, Cruz PD Jr., Bergstresser PR, Takashima A. 1993. Profiles of cytokine mRNA expression by dendritic epidermal T cells in mice. J Invest Dermatol 101: 537-542
- 65. Matsue H, Cruz PD, Bergstresser PR, Takashima A. 1992. Cytokine expression by epidermal cell subpopulations. *J Invest Dermatol* **99**: 42s-45s
- 66. Modlin RL, Pirmez C, Hofman FM, Torigian V, Uyemura K, Rea TH, Bloom BR, Brenner MB. 1989. Lymphocytes bearing antigen-specific γδ T-cell receptors accumulate in human infectious disease lesions. Nature 339: 544-548
- 67. Mollick JA, Cook RG, Rich RR. 1989. Class II MHC molecules are specific receptors for Staphylococcal enterotxin A. Science 244: 817-820
- 68. Moore KW, O'Garra A, de Waal Malefyt R, Vieina P, Mosmann TR. 1993. Interleukin-10. Annu Rev Immunol 11: 165-190
- Musso T, Espinoza-Delgado I, Pulkki K, Gusella GL, Longo DL, Varesio L. 1992. IL-2 induces IL-6 production in human monocytes. *J Immunol* 148: 795-800
- Nixon-Fulton JL, Hackett J, Bergstresser PR, Kumar V, Tigelaar RE. 1988. Phenotypic heterogeneity and cytotoxic activity of Con A and IL-2stimulated cultures of mouse Thy-1+ epidermal cells. J Invest Dermatol 91: 62-68
- Nixon-Fulton JL, Kuziel WA, Santerse B, Bergstresser PR, Tucker PW, Tigelaar RE. 1988. Thy-1+ epidermal cells in nude mice are distinct from their counterparts in thymus-bearing mice. J Immunol 141: 1897-1903

- Nixon-Fulton JL, Bergstresser PR, Tigelaar RE. 1986. Thy-1+ epidermal cells proliferate in response to Concanavalin A and Interleukin 2. J Immunol 136: 2776-2786
- 73. O'Brien RL, Happ MP, Dallas A, Palmer E, Kubo R, Born WK. 1989. Stimulation of a major subset of lymphocytes expression T cell receptor γδ by an antigen derived from *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Cell 57: 667-674
- 74. Okamoto H, Itoh K, Welsh E, Trial J, Platsoucas C, Bucana C, Kripke ML. 1988. In vitro cytotoxic activity of interleukin-2-dependent murine Thy-1+ dendritic epidermal cells. J Leukoc. Biol 43: 502-508
- Okamoto H, Kripke ML. 1987. Effector and suppressor circuits of the immune response are activated *in vivo* by different mechanisms. *Proc Natl* Acad Sci USA 84: 3841-3845
- 76. Ortaldo JR, Mason AT, Gerard JP, Henderson LE, Farrar W, Hopkins RF 3d, Herberman RB, Rabin H. 1984. Effects of natural and recombinant IL-2 on regulation of IFNgamma production and natural killer activity: lack of involvement of the Tac antigen for these immuno-regulatory J Immunol 133: 779-783
- Pace JL, Russell SW, LeBlanc PA, Murasko DM. 1985. Comparative effects of various classes of mouse interferons on macrophage activation for tumor cell killing. *J Immunol* 134: 977-981
- Payer E, Elbe A, Stingl G. 1991. Circulating CD3+/T cell receptor V_y3+ fetal murine thymocytes home to the skin and give rise to proliferating dendritic epidermal T cells. J Immunol 146: 2536-2543
- 79. Pfeffer, Schoel B, Plesnila N, Lipford GB, Kromer S, Deusch K, Wagner H. 1992. A lectin-binding, protease-resistant mycobacterial ligand specifically activates Vγ9+ human γδ T cells. J Immunol 148: 575-583
- Pickard S, Shankar G, Burnham K. 1994 Langerhans' cell depletion by staphylococcal superantigens. *Immunology* 83 568-572

- Picker LJ, Kishimoto TK, Smith CW, Warnock RA, Butcher EC. 1991. ELAM-1 is an adhesion molecule for skin-homing T cells. *Nature* 349: 796-799
- 82. Rheins LA, Young EM, Nordlund ML, Berning RB, Mordlund JJ. 1987. Rapid induction of Thy-1 antigenic markers on keratinocytes and epidermal immune cells in the skin of mice following topical treatment with common preservatives used in topical medications and in foods. J Invest Dermatol 89: 489-494
- Roitt I, Brostoff J, Male D. 1996. Immunology 4th ed. Mosby, New York, NY, 1996, pp 25.1-25.5.
- Rose ML, Parrot DMV, Bruce RG. 1976. Divergent migration of mesentaric and peripheral immunoblasts to sites of inflammation in the mouse. *Cell Immunol* 27: 36-46
- Rowden G, Lewis MG, Sullivan AK. 1977. Ia antigen expression on human epidermal Langerhans cells. *Nature* 268: 247-248
- Rust C, Orsini D, Kooy Y, Koning F. 1993. Reactivity of human γδ T cells to Staphylococcal enterotoxins: A restricted reaction pattern mediated by two distinct recognition pathways. Scand J Immunol 38: 89-94
- Rust C, Verreck F, Vietor H, Koning F. 1990. Specific recognition of Staphylococcal enterotoxin A by human T cells bearing receptors with the Vγ9 region. Nature 346: 572-574
- Salmon JK, Armstrong CA, Ansel JC. 1994. The skin as an immune organ. West J Med 160: 146-152
- Sauder D, Monik M, Hunninghake G. 1985 Epidermal cell-derived thymocyte activating factor is a potent T cell chemoattractant. J Invest Dermatol 85: 431-433

- Shankar G, Pickard-Elias S, Burnham K. 1996. Superantigen-induced Langerhans cell depletion is mediated by epidermal cell-derived IL-1α and TNFα. Cell Immunol 171: 240-245
- 91. Shankar G. 1994. Modulation of epidermal cell cytokine secretion by Staphylococcal enterotoxin A. Master's thesis, Oklahoma State University.
- 92. Sharon M, Gnarra JR, Leonard WJ. 1989. The beta-chain of the IL-2 receptor (p70) is tyrosine-phosphorylated on YT and HUT-102B2 cells. *J Immu*nol 143: 2530-2533
- 93. Smith KA. 1984. Interleukin-2. Annu Rev Immunol 2: 319-333
- Spertini F, Spits H, Geha RS. 1991. Staphylococcal exotoxins deliver activation signals to human T cell clones via major histocompatibility complex class II molecules. *Immunology* 88: 7533-7537
- Stenn KS. 1983. <u>The Skin</u>. In: Weiss L (ed.) Histology: cell and tissue biology. Elsevier Science Publishing Co., New York, NY, 1983, pp 569-588.
- 96. Stingl G, Tschachler E, Groh V, Wolff K. 1989. <u>The immune functions of epidermal</u> <u>cells</u>, chap. 1. In: Norris DA (ed.): *Immune Mechanisms of Cutaneous Disease*. Marcel Dekker, New York, NY, 1989, pp 3-72.
- 97. Stingl G, Koning F, Yamada H, Yokoyama WM, Tschachler E, Bluestone JA, Steiner G, Samelson LE, Lew AM, Coligan JE, Shevach EM. 1987. Thy-1+ dendritic epidermal cells express T3 antigen and the T-cell receptor γ-chain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 84: 4586-4590
- Stingl G, Katz SI, Clement L, Green I, Shevach EM. 1978. Immunologic functions of Ia-bearing epidermal Langerhans cells. J Immunol 121: 2005-2013

- Stinissen P, Vandevyver C, Raus J, Zhang J. 1995. Superantigen reactivity of γδ T cell clones isolated from patients with multiple sclerosis and controls. Cell Immunol 166: 227-235
- Streilein JW. 1990. <u>Skin-associated lymphoid tissues (SALT): the next generation</u>. In: Bos JD (ed.) *Skin Immune System (SIS)*, CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, 1990, pp 25-48.
- Streilein JW. 1983. Skin-Associated Lymphoid Tissues (SALT): Origins and functions. J Invest Dermatol 80: 125-165
- 102. Streilein JW, Toews GB, Bergstresser PR. 1980. Langerhans cells: functional aspects revealed by in vivo grafting studies. J Invest Dermatol 75: 17-21
- Streilein JW, Toews GB, Bergstresser PR. 1979. Corneal allografts fail to express Ia antigens. Nature 282: 326-327
- 104. Streilein JW. 1978. Lymphocyte traffic, T cell malignancies and the skin. J Invest Dermatol 71: 167-171
- Takashima A, Matsue H, Gerometta JS, Notarnicola DM, Cruz PD Jr, Bergstresser PR. 1992. Cytokine expression by dendritic epidermal T cells (DETC): Analysis by PCR at the mRNA level (abstr). Clin Res 40: 474A
- 106. Takashima A, Nixon-Fulton JL, Bergstresser PR, Tigelaar RE. 1988. Thy-1+ dendritic epidermal cells in mice: precursor frequency analysis and cloning of concanavalin A-reactive cells. J Invest Dermatol 90: 671-678
- 107. Tigelaar RE, Lewis JM. 1995. Immunobiology of mouse dendritic epidermal T cells: a decade later, some answers, but still more questions. J Invest Dermatol 105: 43-49

- Tigelaar RE, Lewis JM, Bergstresser PR. 1990. TCR γ/δ+ dendritic epidermal T cells as constituents of skin-associated lymphoid tissue. J Invest Dermatol 94 (suppl): 58S-63S
- Trinchieri G, Perussia B. 1985. Immune interferon: a pleiotropic lymphokine with multiple effects. Immunol Today 6: 131-136
- 110. Tschachler E, Steiner G, Yamada H Elbe A, Wolff K, Stingl G. 1989. Dendritic epidermal T cells: activation requirements and phenotypic characterization of proliferating cells. J Invest Dermatol 92: 763-768
- 111. Tschachler E, Schuler G, Hutterer J, Leibl H, Wolff K, Stingl G. 1983. Expression of Thy-1 antigen by murine epidermial cells. *J Invest Dermatol* 81: 282-285
- 112. Volc-Platzer B, Leibl H, Luger T, Zahn G, Stingl H. 1985. Human epidermal cells synthesize HLA-DR alloantigens *in vitro* upon stimulation with γinterferon. J Invest Dermatol 85: 16-19
- 113. Wardly RC, Rouse BT, Babiuk LA. 1976. Lymphocyte activation by cell separation procedures. *Immunol Commun* 5: 637-648
- 114. Wheelock EF. 1965. Interferon-like virus inhibitor induced in human leukocytes by phytohemagglutinin. Science 149: 310-311
- 115. Wolf K. 1972. The Langerhans Cell. Curr Probl Dermatol 4: 79-145
- 116. Wolff, K, Stingl G. 1983. The Langerhans Cell. J Invest Dermatol 80: 17S-21S
- 117. Wu M, Van Kaer L, Itohara S, Tonegawa S. 1991. Highly restricted expression of the thymus leukemia antigens on intestinal epithelial cells. J Exp Med 174: 213-218

VITA

Jeremy K. Johnson Candidate for the degree of Master of Science

Thesis: PHYSIOLOGIC MODULATION OF DENDRITIC EPIDERMAL T CELLS BY STAPHYLOCOCCAL ENTEROTOXIN A

Major Field: Microbiology, Cell and Molecular Biology

Biographical:

- Personal Data: Born in Wichita, Kansas on April 18, 1972, the son of John and Judy Johnson
- Education: Graduated from Wichia High School South in Wichita, Kansas in May of 1990; received Bachelor of Science Degree from Friends University, Wichita, Kansas, in May of 1994; completed requirements for Master of Science degree at Oklahoma State University in December of 1996.

Professional Experience: Teaching Assistant, Department of Zoology, Oklahoma State University, August 1994 to December 1994; Research Assistant, Department of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics, Oklahoma State University, January 1995 to December 1995; Teaching Assistant, Department of Zoology, Oklahoma State University, January 1996 to May 1996; Teaching Assistant, Department of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics, Oklahoma State University, June 1996 to December 1996.